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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Management’s Responsibilities

Management is responsible for the following;:

¢ Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying financial statements of First Citizens Brokerage and
Advisory Services Limited which comprise the statement of financial position as at
30 September 2018 and the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information;

* Ensuring that the Company keeps proper accounting records;
» Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applyving them in a consistent manner;

* Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of the
Company's assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of Company operational
efficiencies;

»  Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;

» Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the Companies Act;

and

s Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited financial statements, management utilised the International Financial Reporting
Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute of

Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting Standards presented

alternative accounting treatments, management chose those considered most appropriate in the
circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that the Company will not remain a going
concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date the accompanying financial
statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.

-
DA L _@m l_ur’ ﬁ C’E
General Manager J Head - Finance
13 December 2018 13 December 201
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of
First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of
First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited (the Company) as at 30 September 2018, and its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Company’s financial statements comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2018;

the statement of income for the year ended;

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responstbilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code,

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal contro] as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, PO Box 550, 11-13 Victoria Avenue, Port of Spain, Trinidad, West Indies
T: (868) 299 0700, F: (868) 623 6025, www.pwc.com/tt



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or errot, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion, The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control,

*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

» Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

(Réewdwcamt Cb&(x‘:ffﬁ

14 December 2018
Port of Spain
Trinidad, West Indies

(3)



=3

|

=3

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

AN N o0 Ty N ey (0N N N U Y N a A o e

21

E

As at
30 September
Notes 2018 2017
$ S

Assets

Cash and due from Other Banks 5 40,188,761 17,235,905
Financial assets

-Fair value through Other

Comprehensive income 6 2,375,808 2,639,394

- Fair value through prefit or loss 7 148,893 655,195
Other debtors and prepayments 8 511,404 5,219,341

Intangible assets 9 848,571 848,571

Property, plant and equipment 10 316,514 35,003
Total assets 44,389,951 26.633.409
Liabilities

Payables and other liabilities 11 13,377,855 7,934,206

Deferred tax 12 457,390 511,889

13,835,245 B.446.095

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 13 5,000,000 5,000,000

Retained earnings 24,041,733 11,501,318

Fair value reserve 14 1,512,973 1,685,956
Total shareholders’ equity 30,554,706 18,187,314
Total equity and liabilities 44,389,951 26,633,409

The notes on pages 9 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements.

On 13 December 2018, the Board of Directors of First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

authorised these financial statements for issue,

Director QWQQIQQQ@V\ Director

o

<('\ >\

Ay

Al

(4



G B == =

= B &= B EE B e 2n = s = == E

23

EC

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Income
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Brokerage fee and commission income
Brokerage fee and commission expense

Net brokerage fee and commission income

Dividend income

Gains from financial assets
Investment management fees
Other income

Total income
Operaling expenses

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit after taxation

Notes

15

16

17

18

19

Year ended
30 September
2018 2017
$ $

2,466,787 2,509,792
{117.043) (101,349)
2,349,744 2,408 443
112,550 223,602
330,984 66,202
600,000 600,000
30,099,473 8,833,039
33,492,751 12,131,286
(15,562,535) {2,196,744)
17,930,216 9,934,542
(5,389,801) (2,915,435)
12,540,415 7,019.107

The notes on pages 9 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements.

(5)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Note
Profit for the year
Effect of change in effective tax rate (from 25% to 30%) 14
Change in fair value of other comprehensive income,
net of tax 14

Net loss on financial assets measured at FVQC|

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Year ended
30 September
2018 2017
$ $
12,540,415 7,019,107
- (147.485)
(163,834) 284,884
(9,189) -
(173,023) 137,399
12,367,392 7,156,506

The notes on pages 9 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements.

(6)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
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Total
Share Retained Fair value shareholders’
capital earnings reserve equity
$ $ $ $

Balance as at 1 October 2017 5,000,000 11,601,318 1,685,996 18,187,314
Change on initial appiication of IFRS 9 - - {9,189) {9,189)
Restated balance as at 1 October 2017 5,000,000 11,501,318 1,676,807 18,178,125
Profit for the year -~ 12,540,415 - 12,540,415
Other comprehensive income:
Change in fair value of Other
Comprehensive Income ” R eiite)
Total comprehensive income

for the year - 12,540,415 (163,834) 12,376,561
Balance as at 30 September 2018 5,000,000 24,041,733 1,512,973 30,554,706
Balance as at 1 October 2016 5,000,000 4,482,211 1,548,597 11,030,808
Profit for the year - 7,019,107 - 7,019,107
Other comprehensive income:
Change in fair value of Other
Comprehensive Income B - LR LRI
Total comprehensive income

for the year - 7,019,107 137,399 7,156,506
Balance as at 30 September 2017 5,000,000 11,501,318 1,685,996 18,187,314

The notes on pages 9 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements.
(7)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation
Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash
from operating activities:
Depreciation
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets
{Gain)/ioss on disposal of financial assets
Income taxes paid
Cash flows from operating profits before changes in
operating assets and liabilities
Net change in other debtors and prepayments
Net change in payables and other liabilities

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial assets

Sale proceeds of financial assets
Purchase of property and equipment
Net change in short term investments

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Ordinary dividends paid

Net cash outflow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Represented by:
Cash at bank
Short term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Year ended
30 September
2018 2017
$ $

17,930,216 9,934 542
63,123 47 840
26,668 (67,951)
(357,652) 1,749
(5,398,366) {2,484 957)
12,263,989 7,431,223
4,707,936 (3,009,316)
5,471,868 {8,145,105)
22,443,793 (3,723,198)
- (496,000)
853,697 1,625
{344,634) {5,895)
(1,714,829) {46,584)
{1,205,766) {546,854)
- {2,000,000)
- (2,000,000}
21,238,027 (6,270,052)
13,520,163 19,790,214
34,758,190 13,520,162
34,060,385 12,830,960
697,805 689 203
34,758,180 13,620,163

The notes on pages 9 to 54 are an integral part of these financial statements.

(8)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

1

General information

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited is incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and
Tobago and its principal business includes dealing in securities on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock
Exchange and such other business as is authorised pursuant to its registration under the Securities
Industry Act 1995 of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago.

Effective 1 October 2011, First Citizens Investment Services Limited (FCIS) assumed control of the
Company. The ultimate parent company is First Citizens Hoidings Limited, a company with a
77.2% controlling interest and is owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago

(GORTT). The remainder of the shares are listed on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange and are
publicly traded.

The Company’s registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair, Port of Spain.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS. These financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements are prepared under the historical
cost convention as modified by the revaluation of freehold premises, fair value through profit and
loss and fair value through other comprehensive income.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4.

(1) Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by the
Company in the current period

s |IAS 7 - Disclosure Initiative (Amendments effective 4 danuary 2017.) Amends iAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows to clarify that entities shail provide disclosures that enable users
of financial statements to evaiuate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

* [AS 12 Income taxes (Amendment effective 1 January 2017). Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses —This amendments is to clarify the following aspects:

* Unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value and measured at cost for tax
purposes give rise to a deductible temporary difference regardless of whether the debt
instrument’s holder expects to recaver the carrying amount of the debt instrument by sale
or use.

» The carrying amount of the asset does not limit the estimation of probable future taxable
profits,

= Estimates for future taxable profits exciude tax deductions resulting from the reversal of
deductible temporary differences.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Toba_igg Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation {continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted
by the Company in the current period (continued)

An entity assesses a deferred tax assets in combination with other deferred assets.
Where tax law restricts the utlisation of tax losses, an entity would assess a deferred
tax assets in combination with other deferred tax assets of the same type.

IFRS 9, 'Financial instruments part 1: Classification and measurement’ (effective 1
January 2018). IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It replaces
the parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial
instruments. The completed standard was issued in July 2014, with an effective date
of 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two
measurement categories: those measured as at fair value and those measured at
amortised cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification
depends on the entity's business model for managing its financial instruments and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the
standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases
where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value
change due to an entity's own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income
rather than the income statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The
additional amendments in July 2014 introduced a new expected loss impairment
model and limited changes to the classification and measurement requirements for
financial assets. This amendment completes the IASB's financial instruments project
and the Standard.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Company

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are not
yet effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and have not
been early adopted by the Company:

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018). This
standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all
contracts with customers. The five steps in the model are as follows:

Identify the contract with the customer

Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Determine the transaction price

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts
Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

IFRS 16 Leases (effective 1 January 2019). This standard specifies how an [FRS
reporter will recognise, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for ail leases unless the lease term in 12 months and less or the
underlying assets has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as
operating or finance.

(10)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars})

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Company (continued)

IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
(Amendments effective 1 January 2018). This amendments is to clarify the standard in
relation to the accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include
a performance condition, the classification of share-based payment transactions with net
settlement features, and the accounting for modifications of share-based payment
transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled.

IFRIC 22 - Foreign currency transactions and advances consideration {Effective 1
January 2018). This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or part of transactions
where there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The
interpretation provide guidance for when a single payment/receipt is made as well as for
situations where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce
diversity in practice.

IFRIC 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (Effective 1 January 2018). The
interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit {tax loss), tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments under IAS 12. It specifically considers:

Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively
Assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations

The determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and tax rates

* The effect of changes in facts and circumstances

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new and revised standards not
yet effective on the Financial Statements.

(1)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
b.  Foreign currency translation

(iy  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
functional currency). The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. The exchange
rate between the TT doilar and the US doliar as at the date of these statements was

TT$6.6926 = US$1.00 (2017: TT$6.6926 = US$1.00), which represent the Company’s
mid-rate.

(i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as available-for-sale are analysed between transiation differences resulting
from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of security. Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are
recognised in the profit or loss and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-monetary items such as
equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are included in other
comprehensive income,

(o Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments including swaps are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The
method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. Fair values are obtained
from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and options pricing models as
appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities
when negative.

The carrying values of the interest rate swap, which will vary in response to changes in market
conditions, are recorded as assets or liabilities with the corresponding resultant charge or credit
in the income statement,

d. Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash fiows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash
balances on hand, deposits with other banks and short-term highly liquid investments with

originai maturities of three months or less when purchased net of balances “due to other
banks".

(12)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
e.  Financial assels and financial liabiiities
(Y Financial assels

The Group has early adopted IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

*  Hoid for trading

*  Hoid to collect and sell or

* Hold to collect

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three
measurement categories:

Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest (SPP1)), and that are not designated at FVPL are
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected
credit ioss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 3.a. Interest income from
these financial assets — cash and due from other banks are included in “Interest income” using
the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets,
where the assets cash flows represents solely payments of principal and interest, and that are
not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the
instrument’'s amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit and loss and recognized in “Net Investment Income™. Financial assets in this
category include unlisted equity instruments that are held for investment.

Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
and presented in the “income statement within "Gains on investments securities” in the period in
which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were designated at fair value or which
are not held for trading, in which case they are presented in Investment Interest Income.
Financial assets in this category include listed equity instruments that are held for investment.

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the
issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on;

(i) the Group’s business model for managing the asset; and
(i) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

(13)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

e.  Financial assels and financial liabilities (continued)

(iy Financial assets (continued)

Group’s business model

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate
cash flows. An assessment is made at a portfolio fevel and includes an analysis of factors
such as:

The stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in
practice. More specificaily whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the
contractual cash flows from the assets or it to coliect both the contractual cash flows
and cash flows arising from the sale of the assets.

Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected.
Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaiuated and reported to
key management personnel.

Managements identification of and response to various risks, which includes but not
limited to, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk.

How managers are compensated for e.g. if compensation is based on fair value of
assets managed or contractual cash flows collected

Arising out of the assessment the portfolios were deemed to have the business models
identified as follows;

Hold to Collect Hold to Collect & Sell Hold for Trading |

Bonds Issued by or guaranteed
by Government of Trinidad &
Tobago (GOTT) Eurobonds Equity investments

Non-Eurobonds maturing in
greater than 3 years on

acquisition Treasury Bills

Loans & receivables CLICC Bonds

Securities sold under Non-Eurobonds maturing in
repurchase agreements to less than 3 years on
clients and brokers acquisition

Long Term Borrowings from
brokers in the form of Tota!
Return Swaps Cash

Medium Term Notes years on acquisition

Fixed NAV Funds** -
instruments with duration > 3

Fixed NAV Funds** -
instruments with duration <= 3
€ars on acquistion

*Floating NAV Funds - Income & Growth Fund & EL Tucuche Fund
**Fixed NAV Funds - The Abercrombie TTD Monthly Fixed income Fund & The Paria USD

Monthly Fixed Income Fund

(14)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)
Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL)
associated with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure
arising from loan commitments and financiai guarantee contracts. The Group recognises a
loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

* Anunbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range
of possible outcomes;

» The time value of money; and

» Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

» Note 3.a.iii provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.
Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether flows represent solely
payment of principal and interest (SPPI test). In making this assessment, the Group
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement i.e. interest inciudes only consideration for the time value of money, credit
risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financia! asset is classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest,

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business modet for
managing those assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first
reporting period following the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent
and none occurred during the period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractuat obligation to pay and that
evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments
include ordinary shares,

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair vaiue through profit or
loss, except where the Group’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to
irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income, The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those
investments are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this
election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses {and
reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

(15)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

e. Financial assets and financial liabilities {continued)

(i) Financial assets {continued)

(ii)

Equity instruments (continued)

Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognized in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Gain and losses on equity investments classified as FVPL are included in the Income
Statement.

Financial liabilities

(a) Classification and subsequent measurement

(b)

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

= Financial liabilities at fair vaiue through profit or loss: this classification is applied
to derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the
trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial
recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at fair vailue
through profit or loss are presented partially in other comprehensive income (the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that
is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk)
and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the
liability). This is un such a presentation wouid create, or enlarge, an accounting
mismatch, in which case the gains and losses atiributabie to changes in the
credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or ioss;

» Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not
qualify for derecognition, whereby a financial liability is recognised for the
consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Group
recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; and

» Financiai guarantee contracts and loan commitments (see note).

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with
substantialiy different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of
existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the originat
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present
vaiue of the remaining cash flows of the original financiai liability. In addition, other
qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in,
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the
instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. if an
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss
on the extinguishment.

(16)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
e. Financial assels and financial liabilities (continued)
(i} Financial liabilities {continued)
(b) Derecognition (continued)

If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs
or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the
reraining term of the modified liability.

f. Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverabie. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

g. Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and setile the liability
simultaneously. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and
accrued over the life of the repo agreement using the effective interest method.

h, Lease transactions

Leases are accounted for in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. They are divided into
finance leases and operating leases. Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
methods of ownership are retained by another party, the lessor, are classified as operating
leases. Leases of assels where the Company has substantially all the risk and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases.

(i) The Company as the lessee

The Company has entered into operating leases where the total payments made under
operating leases are charged fo the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the period has
expired, any penalty payment made to the lessor is recognised as an expense in the
period in which termination takes place.

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, an asset and liability is recognised in
the statement of financial position at amounts equal at inception to the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the outstanding liability so
as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.

(17)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
h. Lease lransaclions (continued)
(iy The Company as the lessee (continued)

The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

{ii) The Company as the lessor

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments
is recognised as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the
present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease
income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before
tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the asset
for each period.

i. Other debtors and prepayments

Other debtors and prepayments consist of amounts due from brokers, clients, staff advances
and related parties. These amounts are recognised initialiy at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

i Property, plant and equipment

Freehold premises are shown at fair value based on assessments performed by
management or by independent valuators every three years, less subsequent depreciation
for buildings. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair vaiue
of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Any accumulated
depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the
assets and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost iess depreciation. The
valuation of freehold premises is reviewed annualiy to ensure it approximately equates to fair
value. The valuations of freehold premises are re-assessed when circumstances indicate
there may be a material change in value.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

(18)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

j-

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of freehoid premises are credited to
fair value reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that affect previous increases of the
same assets are charged against fair value reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are
charged to the income statement. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to
the revalued amount of the asset.

Leasehold improvements and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation and amortisation are computed on all assets except iand.
The provision for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight-line method to

allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Equipment and furniture 4-5 years
Computer equipment and motor vehicles 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements Amortised over the life of the lease

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the assets fair value less cost to sell and vaiue in use. Gains and losses on disposal of
property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are
recognised within the income statement. When revaiued assets are sold, the amounts
included in fair value reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations,
computer software licenses and other intangible assets. Intangibie assets are recognised at
cost. The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at
the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised using the
straight line method over the period that the benefits from these assets are expected to be
consumed, generally not exceeding 20 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life
are not amortised. At each date of the statement of financial position, intangible assets are
reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits. |f
such indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying
amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable amount.

The Company chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

(19)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
k. Intangible assets (continued)
(iy Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the Group's interest in net fair value of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is
allocated to each of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwil!
is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense
and is not subsequently reversed.

(i)  Otherintangible assels

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from
contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and in the case of
intangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future
economic benefits attributes to the assets with flow from their use. The value of intangibie
assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined using income
approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for impairment, if
any, plus reversals of impairment, if any. They are amortised over their usefui lives in a
manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash flow.

(i) Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an
expense when incurred. However, expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of
computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and lives is recognised
as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. Computer
software development costs recognised as assets when the following criteria are met;

It is technically feasible to complete the software and use it.

Management intends to complete the software and use it

There an ability to use the software.

Adequate technical, financial and other resources to compiete the development and
to use it.

* The expenditure aftributable to the software during its development can be reliably
measured.

The software development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their
useful lives but not exceeding a period of three (3} years.

(20)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds net of transaction
costs incurred. Subsequently, borrowings are stated at amortised cost and any difference
between proceeds net of transactions costs and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Employee benefils
(iy  Pension Plan - First Citizens Group defined benefit pension plan

The FCB Group operates a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines an
amount of pension benefits that an employee will receive on retirement, usuaily
dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation.
This pension pian is funded by payments from employees and by the Company, taking
account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

Typicaily defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee
will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age,
years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in Group's statement of financial position in respect of defined
benefit pension pians is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated based on cash outflows
aflocated to current or prior periods using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. in
countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates on
government bonds are used.

(iiy  Profit sharing and bonus plans

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing,
based on a formula that takes into consideration the Group's profit before taxation. The
Company recognises a provision where contractuaily obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(iiy Employee stock option plan

The Group operates a cash-settled based remuneration plan for its employees. A
liability is recognised for the fair vaiue of the cash-settled transactions. The fair value is
measured initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settiement date,
with changes in the fair value recognised in the income statement. The fair value is
expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding
liability.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settiement is determined by considering the class
of the obligation as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihcod of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

(21)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

n.

Provisions (continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.,

Payables and other liabilities

Payables and other liabilities represent short term obligations to brokers, ciients, business
related expenses and related parties. These are short term in nature and settlement is
expected within one year. Payables and other liabilities are recognised initiaily at fair value
net of transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs

Income taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directiy in equity. in this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries where the
Company operates and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax reguiation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of
financial position date and are expected to appiy when the refated deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probabie that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxabie entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.

Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has
been provided. Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the
negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the acquisition or sale of shares or other
securities are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other
management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service
contracts usuaily on a time apportionate basis.

(22)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

q.

Fee and commission income {continued)

Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period
the service is provided and accrued in accordance with pre-approved fee scales. The same
principle is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services that are
continuously provided over an extended period of time. Performance linked fees or fee
components are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled.

Investment management fees

From October 2011, management fees related to the provision of portfolio and other
management advisory services are recognised monthly based on a fixed Service Level
Agreement between the Company and its parent which is reviewed annually. This agreement
covers the provision of the advisory services.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method based on the initial
carrying amount. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and
deposits.

The effective interest method is a method of caiculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or when appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options), but does not
consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties
to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and ali
other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of
an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised in the statement of income when the Company's right to receive
payment is estabiished.

Dividend distribution

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are
approved by the Board of Directors. Dividends for the year, which are declared after the year-
end, are disclosed in the subsequent events note when applicable.

Fiduciary activities

The Company acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or
placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other
institutions. These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial
statements, as they are not assets of the Company.

(23)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
w.  Change in accounting policies

The Company has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the 1ASB in July 2014, with a date of
transition of 1 October 2017, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and
adjustments to the amounts previously recognised in the financial statements.

As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 8, the Company elected not to restate
comparative figures. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and
liabilities at the date of transitions were recognised in the opening retained earnings and
other reserves of the current period.

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures
have also only been applied to the current period. The comparative period notes disclosures
repeats those disclosures made in the prior year.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in our accounting policies for recognition,
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial labilities and impairment of
financial assets. IFRS 9 also significantly amends other standards dealing with financial
instruments such as IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure”.

The impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the Company is as follows:-

(i} Classification and measurement of financial instruments

IAS 39 IFRS @
Carrying Carrying
Measurement amount Measurement amount
Financial assets $ $
Cash and due Amortised Amortised
from banks Cost 17,235,905 Cost 17,235,905
Available for
Saie - equity FVOCI 2,639,394 FVPL 2,609,856
Fair vaiue
through profit or
loss FVPL 655,195 FVPL 684,733
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

w.  Change in accounting policies {continued)

(i) Reconciliation of statement of financial position from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

The Group performed a detail analysis of its business models for managing financial
assets and analysis of their cash flow characteristics.

The following table reconciles the carrying amount of the financial assets from their

previous measurement category in accordance with |AS 39 to their new measurement
categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 October 2017:-

IFRS 9
IAS 39 carrying Carrying
amount amount 1
30 September October
Financial assets 2017 Reclassifications Remeasurements 2017
Amortised cost
Cash and due from
banks:-
Opening bafance 17,235,905 - = 17,235,905
Remeasurement - - — -
Closing balance 17,235,905 -- - 17,235,905
Financial assets IAS 39 carrying Reclassifications Remeasurements IFRS 9
amount Carrying
30 September amount 1
2017 Octaber 2017
Fair value through
Cther Comprehensive Income
Available for Sale — Equity
Opening balance 2,639,394 (29,538) - 2,609,856
Remeasurement — -- -
Closing balance 2,639,394 {29,538) - 2,609,856
Fair value through profit
or loss
Opening balance 655,195 29,538 - 684,733
Remeasurement - -~
Closing balance 655,195 29,538 - 684,733
(25)



=3

==

Ex EE E3 =3

B BE BB BB =3 = EE B

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

w.  Change in accounting policies (continued)

The following table analyses the impact, net of tax, of transition to IFRS 9 on reverses and
retained earnings. The impact relates to the fair value reserve and retained earnings. There

is no impact on other component of equity.

Fair value reserve

Closing balance under |IAS 39 as at 30 September 2017
Reclassification of investment securities {debt) from AFS
to amortised cost
Reclassification of investment securities (debt& equity } from AFS
to FVTPL
Reclassification of investment securities (equity ) from AFS
to FVOCI
Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9 for
debt financials assets at FOCVI

Opening balance under IFRS 9 ( 1 October 2017)

Retained earnings

Closing balance under IAS 39 as at 30 September 2017

Reclassification under IFRS 8

Recognition of expected credit losses under IFRS 9 (inciuding
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts)

Opening balance under IFRS 9 (1 October 2017)

1,685,996

{9,189)

1,676,807

11,601,318
9,189

11,510,607
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3

Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks.
Taking risk is core to the financiai business, and the operationai risks are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The Company’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Company's financial
performance.

The Company's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of
refiabie and up-to-date information systems. The Company regularly reviews its risk management
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors of First Citizens Bank Limited (the Group) has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. To assist the Board of
Directors in fulfifling its duties, two Board sub-committees were established at the First Citizens
Group level to monitor and report to the Board of Directors on the overall risks within the First
Citizens Group - the Board Enterprise Risk Management Committee and the Board Credit
Committee, and one management level committee - Asset Liability Committee.

The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit, headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer, reports to
both sub-committees of the Board. They are responsible for the management, measurement,
monitoring and control of operationai, market and credit risk for the Group through the Group
Operational Risk & Controls Unit, Group Credit Risk and Administration Unit, Group Market Risk
Unit and Group Business Continuity Planning Unit. The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit
reports into the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee to allow monitoring of the
adherence to risk limits and the impact of developments in the aforementioned risk areas on
strategy and how strategy should be varied in light of the developments.

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCQ) was established to manage and monitor the policies and
procedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and other factors that can affect the Group's liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to
acceptable levels by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and
liabilities across the Bank and the Group's various companies via the Group's Treasury and
International Trade Centre.The Group Treasury and Internationat Trade Centre's primary role and
responsibility is to actively manage the Group’s liquidity and market risks. The ALCO is also
supported in some specific areas of activity by the Bank's Market Risk Committee.

As part of its mandate, the Board estabiishes written principies for overall risk management, as
well as ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments. In addition, the Group Internal Audit Department is responsible for the
independent review of risk management and the control environment, and reports its findings and
recommendation to the Board Audit Committee.

The Board of Directors of the FCIS Group has overali responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the FCIS Group's risk management framework. The Board of FCIS has also
established a Risk Management Committee {(RMC) which oversees the risk management function
of the FCIS Group.

The most important types of risk are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and other operational risk.
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will cause a financial loss for the Company by faifing
to discharge an obligation. The Company generally does not provide advances to customers
nor does it invest in debt securities. As a resuit, its exposure to credit risk is limited to other
registered brokers and client accounts that are substantively supported by underlying
securities. At 30 September 2018, the Company had no financial assets which were either
impaired or past due.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before coliateral held or other credit enhancements

Credit risk exposure relating to on-statement of financial position assets are as follows:

2018 2017
$ $
Cash and due from other banks 40,188,761 17,235,905
Other debtors 503,753 5,174,751
40,692 514 22,410,656

There were no credit risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position items.
(i) Credit risk management

In its management of credit risks, the Group has estabiished an organisational
structure which supports the lending philosophy of the Group. This structure
comprises the Board of Directors, the Board Credit Committee (BCC), Senior
Management Enterprise Risk Committee (SMERC), the Group Chief Risk Officer
(GCRO), the Group Credit Risk Management Unit and the Internal Audit Department.
The Board of Directors maintains general oversight to ensure that policies and
procedures are consistent with the strategic direction and credit philosophy of the
Group and that they serve to bring the required leve! of protection over assets that are
exposed to credit risks. To facilitate day to day decision making and timely
implementation of decisions, the Board has delegated authority for specific areas to
specific committees and/or officers with an appropriate reporting system to the Board.
The BCC focuses primarily on credit risk appetite and in so doing sanctions
amendments to credit policies, delegation of lending authority to senior management
and credit requests exceeding the authority of management. The SMERC together
with the GCRO monitors the effectiveness of credit policies and procedures and may
direct changes to strategies to improve the effectiveness of policies. The major focus
of the Credit Risk Management Unit is to formulate credit policies, monitor compiiance
with them and on a continuous basis to assess their relevance to the changing
business environment. Most of these policies are established and communicated
through the Group's written Credit Policy Manual. This document sets out in detail the
current policies governing the lending function and provides a comprehensive
framework for prudent risk management of the credit function. Major areas of focus
are General Credit Policy Guideiines, Exercise of Lending Authority, Credit Review
Process, Credit Risk Rating and Classification System, among others.

(28)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk {continued)

(iy  Credit risk measurement (continued)

{a) Other assels

The Company exposure to credit risk is the outstanding amounts due from clients
and brokerage company which are settled within three working days following
month end.

(i) Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS8 outlines a 'three stage’ mode; for impairment based on changes in credit quality
since initial recognition as summarized below:

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in
Stage 1 and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group.

If a significant increase in credit risk ('SICR’) since initial recognition is identified,
the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired.

if the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved
to ‘Stage 3.

Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to
the portion of lifetime expected credit losses within the next 12 months. Instruments
in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a
lifetime basis.

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward- looking information.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets
that are credit- impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a
lifetime basis (Stage 3).

(29)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3

Financial risk management (continued)

a Credit risk (continued)

(iiy Expected credit loss measurement (continued)

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other

than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

F 3

Stage 1

Stage 2

Y

Stage 3

(initial Recognition)

12 month expected credit losses

risk)

Lifetime expected credit

{Significant increase in credit

{Credit - impaired assets)

Lifetime expected credit

iosses losses
investments
Criteria Investment Grade Portfolio Single “B” Speculative
2l el _Grade Portfolio =

Absolute Measure

PD- 12.5% or lower

PD -25% or lower

AND

AND

AND

Relative Measure

Credit rating reverts to level just
prior being deemed an having an
SICR

One notch downgrade (internal
rating scale)

CR

CR

OR

Special Consideration

No credit stop loss breaches

No credit stop loss breaches
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk {continued)

(iv)

)

Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The FCB Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the
definition of credit- impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criterta:

Quantitative criteria
The borrower is more than S0 days past due on its contractual payments.

Qualitative criteria

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant

financial difficuity. These are instances where:

o The borrower formally files for bankruptcy or there is a commencement of foreclosure
proceedings.

* The obligation is classified Doubtful or worse as per the Group's classification process.

* A modification to the terms and conditions of the original agreement that would not
normally be considered is executed

+ Restructure proceedings or an indication of the intention to restructure is initiated by the
issuer {investments oniy}.

The criteria above have been applied to ail financiai instruments held by the Group and are
consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The
default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability of Defauit (PD),
Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout the Group's expected
loss calculations.

An investment instrument is considered to no lenger be in default {i.e. to have cured) when it
no longer meets any of the default criteria for a consecutive period of six months.

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models

The calculation of ECL incorporates forward-lcoking information. The Group has performed
historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk and expected
credit losses for each portfolio.

Investments

These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by
financial instrument. Management judgment has also been applied in this process. Forecasts of
these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are provided by the Research &
Analytics team on a periodic basis and provide the best estimate view of the economy cver the
next three years. After three years, to project the economic variables out for the full remaining
lifetime of each instrument, a mean reversion approach has been used, which means that
economic variables tend to either a long run average rate (e.g. for unempioyment) or a long run
average growth rate {e.g. GDP) over a period of two to five years. The impact of these
economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has been determined by performing statistical
regression analysis to understand the impact changes in these variables have had historically
on default rates and on the components of LGD and EAD.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management {continued)
a. Credit risk (continued)
(v} Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models (continued)
investments (continued)

In addition to the base case scenario the Research & Analytics team also provided other
possible scenarios along with scenario weightings. The number of other scenarios used
was set with the only exception being the addition of a fourth scenario if the base and
current differed. The number of scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each
reporting date. The scenario weightings are determined by a combination of statistical
anaiysis and expert credit judgement, taking account of the range of possibie outcomes
each chosen scenario is representative of.

{vi) Risk limit controf and mitigation policy

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of
risk accepted in reiation to one borrower, groups of borrowers, industry and country
segments. The Group monitors its concentration of credit exposure so that no single
borrower or industry default will have a material impact on the Group. These limits are
implemented and monitored by the Credit Risk Management Unit via the stipulations of the
Group Credit Policy Manual. In instances where it is strategically beneficial and adequately
documented, the Group would seek approval on an exception basis for variation to its
standard approved limits from the Board of Directors.

(a) Industry exposure limits

These limits have been established based on a ranking of the riskiness of various
industries. The ranking is guided by a model developed for the Group for this purpose.
The model utilises a scale incorporating scores of 1 to 8 with 1 being the least risky.
These have been consolidated into four (4) bands of exposure limits which have been
set in relation to the total credit portfolio with a relatively smaller limit being assigned to
the more risky industries.

(b} Country exposure limits

Exposure limits have been established for selected countries which are considered to
be within the Group's off-shore target market. Five risk categories have been
developed and the selected countries have been assigned to these categories based
either on ratings issued by acceptable rating agencies or the Group's own internal
assessment of the economic and political stability of the target. Maximum cross border
exposure has been limited to a pre-determined portion of total assets and this amount
is aliocated to the various risk categories with a larger share being allocated to the
more highly rated categories.

(c) Collateral

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most
common of these is accepting collaterat for funds advanced. The Group has internal
policies on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not changed significantly

during the period and there has been no significant change in the overali quality of the
coliateral held by the Group since the prior period.

(32)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3. Financial risk management {continued)
a. Credit risk (continued)

(vii) Maximum exposure lo credil risk before collateral held or other credit enhancement

Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as foilows:

Gross Gross
maximum maximum
exposure exposure

2018 2017
$°000 $°'000
Cash and due from other Banks 40,188,761 17,235,905
Financial assets
- Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income 2,375,808 2,639,394
- Fair value through profit or loss 148,893 655,195
Other assets 503,753 5,174,751
43,217,215 25,705,245

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the
Company as at 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017, without taking account of
any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. The exposures set out
above are based on gross carrying amounts before impairment. There are no credit

risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position items.

As shown above, of the total maximum exposure is derived from cash and due from
other banks and receivables is 94% (September 2017: 87%); while represents 6%

investments (September: 13%).

Write-off policy

The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all
practical recovery efforts and has conciuded there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonabie expectation of recovery include (i)
ceasing enforcement activity and (i) where the group’s effort to dispose of repossess
collateral is such that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement
activity. The outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year
ended 30 September 2018 was $0 {2017: 0). The Company still seeks to recover
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no

reasonable expectation of full recovery.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management {continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

{viii) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credif risk exposure — Geographical

seclors

The following table breaks down the Company’s main credit exposure at their carrying
amounts, as categorised by geographical region as of 30 September 2018. For this
table, the Company has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of
domicile of its counterparties. The Company's investment portfolio comprising cash and
cash equivalents, financial assets — Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income,
Fair value through Profit and Loss and Other Assets and Receivables domiciled within
the Caribbean. Limits for each country are reviewed on an annual or more frequent
basis and the exposures are monitored on a daily basis. The country exposures are
categorised into one regional sector and the sector concentration within the portfolio is

as follows;

At 30 September 2018

Cash and due from other banks
Other assets and receivables
As at 30 September 2018

At 30 September 2017

Cash and due from other banks
Other assets and receivables
As at 30 September 2017

Caribbean Total
$'000 $'000
40,188,761 40,188,761

503,753 503,753
40,692 514 40,692,514
Caribbean Total
$'000 $000
17,235,905 17,235,905
5,174,751 5,174,751
22,410,656 22,410,656

(34)



N G

= == em v U A O (0 S0 = D S EE B By aE &=

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

b.

Market risk

The Company takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market
risks arise from open positions in equity products which are exposed to general and specific
market movements and changes in the level of voiatility of equity prices. The Company
separates exposures to market risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios.

The market risks arising from trading and non-trading activities are measured separately by the
Group Market Risk Unit who submit reports to the Senior Management Enterprise Risk
Committee on a regutar basis and also reports via the Enterprise Risk Unit {o the Board
Enterprise Risk Committee to enable Board oversight of market risk issues.

Additionally, on a monthly basis, the Bank’s Market Risk Committee reviews and approves the
yield curves used to value all investment securities and reports on this into the Group ALCO.
This Committee also provides for the consideration of the Group ALCO technical information that
may be relevant to current and developing market conditions from time Lo time.

Additionally, on a monthly basis, the FCIS Group Risk Management Committee reviews and
approves the prices all investment securities which are valued using valuation technigues.
Trading portfolios include those portfolios arising from market-making transactions where the
Group acts as a principal with clients or with the market. Trading portfolios are those positions
entered into primarily to take advantage of market movements to generate capital gains.
Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest-rate management of the Group's retail
and commercial banking assets and liabilities,

Non-trading portfolios also consist of interest rate, foreign exchange and equity risks arising
from the Group’s financial assets available-for-sale.

As part of the management of market risk, the Company uses overall exposure in relation to
capital as the basis for controlling market risk.

As at 30 September 2018, the total value of assets to which the Company faced market risk
represented 50% of capital (30 September 2017: 66%).

(i) Currency risk sensitivity
The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. As at 30 September

2018, the Company had 8% cash and due from other banks (30 September 2017: 18.9%)
and 0.23% liabilities (30 September 2017: 0.62%) denominated in a foreign currency.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management {continued)

b. Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk sensitivity (continued)

Based on net foreign currency positions at 30 September 2018, the effect of a 2.5%
depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago doliar against the respective currencies is as
follows:

uUsD JMD BBD
$ $ $
At 30 September 2018
Loss (79,703) (3,100) {48)
At 30 September 2017
Loss {79,633) (3,078) -

The effect of a 2.5% depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago doliar against the US doilar
would reduce Net income after tax by 1% (2017: 1%).

The sensitivity analysis for currency rate risk in the following table illustrates how
changes in the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign currency exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. For the sensitivity analysis, a 5% movement in USD to TTD exchange rates was
used for 30 September 2018 and 30 September 2017.

Effects on shareholders’ equity

Year ended Year ended
30 September 2018 30 September 2017
+5% - 5% + 5% -5%
$ $ $ $
Effects on sharehoiders’ equity 163,391 (163,391) 163,310 (163,310)

Foreign exchange risk

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. [t is the policy of the
Company not to engage in speculative foreign exchange activities, The Board sets limits
on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are
monitored periodically. The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities
to mitigate currency risk. The Company's strategy of managing this risk is to buy low and
sell high; establish relationships with corporate foreign exchange earners; limit foreign
exchange exposure; avoid speculation with an aim to keep a balanced position; and
match foreign currency denominated assets with foreign currency denominated liabilities.
The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate currency
risk. The table below summarises the Company's exposure to foreign currency exchange
rate risk at 30 September. Included in the table are the Company’s financial instruments
at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.

(36)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3

Financial risk management {continued)

b.  Markel risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchangs risk (continued)

At 30 September 2018

Assets

Cash and due from other banks
Financial assets

- Fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income

- Fair value through profit or loss
other assets & receivables

Total

Liabilities

Other liabilities and accrued expenses
Total liabilities

Net on-balance sheet financial
position

At 30 September 2017

Assets

Cash and due from other banks
Financial assets

- Fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income

- Fair value through profit or loss
other assets & receivables

Total
Liabilities

Other liabilities and accrued expenses

Total liabilities
Net on-balance sheet financial
position

1L us JMD BBD Total

$ $ $ $ $
36,906,788 3,155,624 126,349 - 40,188,761
2,375,808 - - -- 2,375,808
4,830 144,063 - - 148,893
502,986 = 767 - 503,753
39,790,412  3,299687 127,116 — 43217215
13,347,967 31,873 - (1.975) 13,377,855
13,347,857 31,873 - (1,975) 13,377,855
26,442 455 3,267,814 127,116 (1,975) 29,830,360

1T us JMD BBD Total

$ $ $ $ $
13,871,690 3,138,782 125,433 - 17,235,905
2,609,887 29,507 - - 2,639,394
545,449 109,746 - - 655,195
5,173,985 - 766 - 5,174,751
22,301,011 3,278,035 126,199 -~ 25,705,245
7921107 13,089 - - 7,934,208
7921107 13,099 - - 7,934,206
14,379,904 3,264,936 126,199 - 17,771,038
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

<] Financial risk management {continued)

b. Markef risk (continued)

(iii)

Non-
Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 interest
Interest rate maturities  month months  months years years Bearing Total
At 30 September 2018 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Assets
Cash and due from
other banks 33,836,185 — 6,128,376 -- — 224,200 40,188,761
Total 33,836,185 -~ 6,128,376 - - 224 200 40,188,761
Non-
Upto 1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 interest
Interest rate maturities  month months months  years years Bearing Total
At 30 September 2017 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Assets
Cash and due from
other banks 11,183,265 — 6,052,640 -- — — 17,235,905
Total 11,183,265 — 6,052,640 - - -~ 17,235,905

If interest rates were to move by 1% the impact on net interest income will be $769 (2017:$781).

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk management focuses on potential changes in net interest income
resulting from changes in interest rates, product spreads and mismatches in the re-
pricing between interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities. Cash flow interest rate risk
is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The
Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of
market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may
increase as a result of such changes but may also reduce resulting in losses in the
event that unexpected movements arise. The Company's objective in the management
of its interest rate risk is to reduce the sensitivity of its earnings and overall portfoiio
value to fluctuations in the interest rate. The strategy employed to achieve this involves
the active pricing of diversifying portfolios in accordance with market trends and
reducing funding mismatch through long-term instruments. The table below
summarises the Company's exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Company's
financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the eariier of contractua!
repricing or maturity dates.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3

Financial risk management {continued)

C.

Price risk

Price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from
interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to
the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The Company is affected by changing prices of equity
instruments mainiy classified as available-for-sale securities with fair value movements
recognised in shareholders’ equity. Management has determined that the impact of the price
risk on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale is immaterial at the end of both
periods reported.

The sensitivity analysis for price risk below illustrates how changes in the fair value of the
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes to prices at the
end of the reporting period. Other than assets categorised as investment securities which are
carried at fair vaiue, the carrying value of all other financial assets and liabilities as presented
on the statement of financial position is not significantly different from their fair value.

For the sensitivity analysis, a 10% movement in prices was used for 30 September 2018 and
30 September 2017: (10%).

Effects on profit before tax

Year ended Year ended
30 September 2018 30 September 2017
+10% -10% +10% «10%
$ $ $ $

Financial assets:
- Fair value through other 237,581 {237,581) 263,939 (263,939)
Comprehensive income
- Fair value through profit or loss 14,889 (14,889) 65,520 (65,520}
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3

Financial risk management (continued)

d.

Liquidity risk
The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash
or its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fall
due under normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows. The
undiscounted receivables and payables liquidity exposure is mitigated because these cash flows
are generally settled within three to thirty days.
Liquidity risk management process
The Group's liquidity management process is carried out by the Treasury and International
Trade Centre and monitored by the Group's Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). The Group's
liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that there are adequate reserves of cash
and other liquid securities to satisfy current and prospective commitments arising from either on-
statement of financial position or off-statement of financial position liabilities. The Group relies on
a broad range of funding sources and appiies prudent limits to avoid undue concentration.
Current and projected cash fiows are monitored, together with diversification of funding and
contingency planning, and ensuring that funding disturbances are minimised.
Compliance with liquidity policies and risk limits is tracked by Group Market Risk Unit and
reported into the Senior Risk Management Committee via the Group Enterprise Risk Unit to the
Board Enterprise Risk Committee.
The Company's financial liabilities are all payable within 1 month as at the statement of financial
position date.
Off-statement of financial position items
(i  Financial guarantees and other financial facilities

As of 30 September 2018, the Company had no financial guarantees or other financial

facilities that result in a commitment to meet financial obligations (2017: nil).
(i)  Capital commitments

The Company had no capital commitments as at 30 September 2018 (2017 nil).
(i)  Operating lease commitments

The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 30 September 2018

(2017; nil).

Operational risk

Operating risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud and
external events. The Company's objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the
avoidance of financial iosses and damage to the Company's reputation with overail cost
effectiveness and innovation. The Company manages this risk by developing standards and
guideiines in the following areas:

Appropriate segregation of duties and access.
Reconciling and monitoring of transactions.
Documentation of controls and procedures.
Training and development of staff.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)
f. Operational risk {continued)

Reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial actions,
Development of contingency plans.

Information security.

Assessments of the processes.

Business continuity planning

g.  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets
presented on the statement of financial position at an amount other than their fair vaiue,

Carrying value Fair value
2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $
Financial assets
Cash and due from
other banks 40,188,761 17,235,905 40,188,761 17,235,905
Other debtors’ 503,753 5,174,751 503,753 5,174,751

40,692,514 22,410,656 40,692,514 22,410,656

Financial liabilities
Other liabilities 13,377,855 7,934,206 13,377,855 7,934,206

The fair vaiues of the Company's financial instruments are determined in accordance with
International Accounting Standard (IFRS) 8 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Financial instruments where carrying value is equal fo fair value

Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial
instruments approximate their fair values.

Financial instruments where carrying value is approximately equal to fair value include
cash and cash equivalent, financial assets (available-for-sale and fair value through profit
of loss) and other debtors.

Cash and due from other banks

This amount represents short term deposits and other bank balances. The fair value of
these short term deposits is approximately equal to their carrying amount.

(41)




First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Doliars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

g. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments not measured af fair value (continued)
Receivables

Receivables are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of
receivables represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected

to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to
determine fair value,

Amortised cost

Fair value for Amortised Cost assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer price
quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using a
discounted cash flow valuation methodology where ail cash-flows of the instruments
are discounted at an appropriate yield plus a credit spread where applicable. The fair
value of the held-to-maturity portfolio is computed for disclosure purposes only. There
are no observable prices for these instruments and as such they are considered leve! 3
instruments.

Bank overdraft

The fair values of bank overdraft is equalto its carrying value as such instruments are
subject to floating rates of interest which reset on a daily, monthiy or quarterly basis.

Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to
these valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect
market data obtained from independent sources, unobservabie inputs reflect the

Company’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following
fair value hierarchy:

* Level 1 - Quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

¢ Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices). This level includes debt instruments.

» Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt
instruments with significant unobservabie components.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management {continued)
9.  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the Company's assets and liabilities that are measured at

fair value at;
As at 30 September 2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ $ $ $
- Fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income

- - 2,375,808 2,375,808
- Fair value through profit and loss 148,893 — - 148,893

Total 148,883 - 2,375,808 2,524,701

As at 30 September 2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$ $ $ $
- Fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income 29,538 - 2,609,856 2,639,394
- Fair value through profit and loss 655,185 = = 655,195
Total 684,733 - 2,609,856 3,294,589

h. Capital management

The Company's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the
‘equity’ on the face of the statement of financial position are:

¢ To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets
where the Company operates;

* To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

* To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Company's
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago
Securities and Exchange Commission {the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required
information is filed with the Authority on a regular basis as required.

The Authority requires each securities company to hold the minimum levet of regulatory

capital of five million Trinidad and Tobago doliars. During those two periods, the Company
complied with all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars})

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are outlined below:

a.

Financiaf assets af fair value through profit or foss

This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated by the Group as fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading.

For financial instruments traded in an active market, the determination of fair values of
financial assets and liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily
and reguiarly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or
regulatory agency, and these prices represent actual and regular occurring market
transactions on an arm's iength basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is
regarded as being inactive. Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-
offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent
transactions. When a market becomes inactive, the valuation technique utilised makes use of
the quoted price even though the market is not active.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):

The Group uses the discounted cash flow method to determine the fair value of Financial
Assets through other comprehensive income not traded in active markets. The discounted
cash flow method discounts the cash-flows of the financial assets at an appropriate yield plus
a credit spread where applicable.

The Company's financial assets at Fair value through other comprehensive income
represents equity shares held for Investments. The share price is determined using a
projected dividend growth in the Dividend Discount Model (DDM]}, which values a share price
based on its predicted future dividend payments and discounting them back to present value.
The expected growth rate is calculated using a five year trend of return of equity by the
payout ratio for the dividends received.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
{(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

c. Measurement of the expected credit foss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised
cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions
about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (g.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting
and the resuiting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used
in measuring ECL is further detailed in note 3.a.v, which also sets out key sensitivities of the ECL
to changes in these elements.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for
measuring ECL, such as:

Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL,
Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of
product/market and the associated ECL,; and
« Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is
set out in note 3.a.vi.

d. Income laxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes and there are
many transactions and calcuiations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made. When appropriate, particularly where the uitimate
tax determination is uncertain, management also obtains opinions or advice from leading tax
advisors and regularly reassesses its strategy in relation to such exposures.

The Company is subject to income tax in variance jurisdictions. Tax is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Substantive enactment is
considered to be achieved when further steps in the enactment process will not change the ocutcome
of a proposed change in tax law. Management considers the legistative process applicable in each
jurisdiction in which it operates in determining at what point a proposed change in tax law will be
considered substantively enacted by identifying the point after which further steps in the enactment
process will not affect the outcome of the proposed change. The Corporation tax rate for Trinidad
and Tobago was 30% in 2018 (2017:30%).

e. Relirement benefits

The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are
determined on an actuariai basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.

The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount
rate, salary and pension increases. The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the
end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value
of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension obligations. In
determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of high-quality
corporate bonds, and where no deep corporate market exist, the Government bonds are used,
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to
maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. In determining the salary
increases, the Group considered long-term salary inflation, age, merit and promotion.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

f.

Fair valuation of properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar lease and other
contracts. In the absence of such information, the Bank determines the amount within a range
of reasonable fair value estimates. In making the judgement, the Bank considers information
from a variety of sources including:

(i} Current prices in an active market for properties of different nature, condition or location {or
subject to different lease or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences:

(i) Recent prices of similar properties in less active market, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and

(iii) Discounted cash flow projections based on refiable estimates of future cash flows, derived
from the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (where possible) from external
evidence such as current market rents for simitar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that refiect current market assessments of the
uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The valuations are based on current market conditions and thus may change in the future.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The FCB Group tests annuaily whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in note 2 k (ii). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. If the discounted rate used in the
value-in-use calculation was increased by 100 basis points from management's estimates, the
vaiue in use calculation will still exceed the fair value less cost to sell caiculation, and there will be
no impairment of goodwil.

(4€)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

5 Cash and due from Other Banks
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2018 2017
$ $
Cash at bank 34,060,385 12,830,960
Short term deposit 6,128,376 4,404,945
40,188,761 17,235,905
2018 2017
$ $
Short-term investments:
- Maturity within 3 months 697,805 689,203
- Maturity over 3 months 5,430,571 3,715,742
6,128,376 4,404,945

The average effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 1.23% in September 2018 (2017

1.23%), these deposits have an average maturity of 90 days (2017: 90 days)

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flow:

34,060,3
Cash and bank balances 85 12,830,960
Short-term investments — maturity within three months 697,805 689,203
Cash and cash equivalents 34,758,190 13,520,163
Financial assets — other comprehensive income
- Listed - 29,538
- Unlisted 2,375,808 2,609,856
2,375,808 2,639,394
The movement in financial assets available-for-sale may be summarised as follows:
At beginning of year 2,639,394 2,232,633
(Losses)/gains from changes in fair value (247,176) 408,761
Reclassification of investment securities (debt & equity) from
AFS to FVTPL - {29,538)
Fair value through profit and loss (16,410) 29,538
Atend of year 2,375,808 2,639,394
(47)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

7 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2018 2017
$ $
Equity securities
- Listed 148,893 655,195

The movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may be summarised as follows:;

At beginning of year 655,195 94,618
Additions 496,000
Disposals {(496,044) (3.374)
{Losses)/gains from changes in fair value (Note 16) (26,668) 67,951
Reclassification of Other comprehensive income to

Fair value through profit and loss 16,410 -
At end of year 148,883 655,195

The above securities are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in
accordance with a documented risk management strategy, and information about the groups of
financial instruments is reported to management on that basis.

8 Other debtors and prepayments

2018 2017
$ $
Due from brokers 456,181 591,986
Due from clients 56 44 445
Other debtors 47,516 4,538,320
Prepayments 7,651 44,590
511,404 5,219,341

8 Intangible assets

The Company purchased 10 Class “A” shares in the TTSE in 2001. This purchase gave the Company
the right to conduct brokerage operations on the TTSE. In 2012, these shares were converted to
110,400 ordinary shares due to a restructuring at the TTSE. The cost of the right obtained is
presented as an intangible asset. Although there is no active market for the right, the intangihle asset
is reviewed annually for impairment.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2018

{(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

10

Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 30 September 2018

Opening net book value
Additions

Disposals

Depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge

Closing net book value

At 30 September 2018

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

Year ended 30 September 2017

Opening net book value
Additions

Disposals

Depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge

Closing net book value

At 30 September 2017

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

At 30 September 2016

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book value

Office
equipment,
Computer furniture &
equipment  motor vehicles Total
$ $ $
5,204 29,799 35,003
14,615 330,019 344, 634
- (178,798) (178,798)
- 178,798 178,798
(5,822) (57.301) {63,123)
13,997 302,517 316,514
33,248 330,019 363,267
(19.251) {27,502) (46,753)
13,897 302,517 316,514
2,449 74,499 76,948
5,895 - 5,895
(3.140) {44,700) (47,840)
5,204 29,799 35,003
18,633 178,798 197,431
(13,428) (148,999) (162.428)
5,204 20,799 35,003
12,738 178,798 191,536
(10,289) (104,299) {114,588)
2,449 74,499 76,948
(49)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

11

12

Payables and other liabilities

Due to brokers

Due to clients

Due to related parties
Tax payable

Deferred income tax assets

2018 2017
$ $
6,268,802 43,795
2,650,386 6,797,907
4,082,285 687,902
376,382 404,602
13,377,855 7,394,208

Deferred tax is calculated on ali temporary differences under the liability method using a principal

tax rate of 30%.

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

At beginning of year

Statement of income charge (Note 19)
Effect of change in Tax (from 25% to 30%)

Fair value reserve (Note 14)

At end of year

Deferred tax assets

Financial assets at fair value
through the profit or loss
Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

Deferred fax liabilities
Pricr period change in Tax
Available-for-sale

Deferred income tax liability

Net deferred income tax iability

2018 2017
$ $
511,889 226,227
19,656 16,300
- 147,485
(74,155) 121,877
457,390 511,888
Opening Closing
balance Charged to balance
1 October Fair value statement of 30 September
2017 reserve income 2018
$ $ $ $
{168,366) - 8,009 {160,357)
{105,306) - 11,647 {93,659)
{273,672) - 19,656 {254,0186)
147,485 - - 147,485
638,076 (74,155} -- 563,921
785,561 (74,155) - 711,406
511,889 (74,155) 19,656 457,390
(50)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

12

13

14

Deferred income tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Financial assets at fair value
through the profit or loss

Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

Deferred tax liabilities
Prior period change in Tax
Available-for-sale

Deferred income tax liability

Net deferred income tax liability

Share capital

Authorised

An unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value

Issued and fully paid
5,000,000 ordinary shares of no par

Fair value reserve

Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income

Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income

At beginning of year

Effect of tax rate change (25% to 30%)
Net gains from changes in fair value
Deferred tax charge (Note 12)

At end of year

Opening Charged Closing
balance to balance
1 October Fair value  statement 30 September
2016 reserve of income 2017
$ $ $ $
(190,876) - 22,510 {168,3686)
(99,096) - {6,210) (105,306)
(289,972) - 16,300 (273,672)
- 147 485 -- 147,485
516,199 121,877 -- 638.076
516,199 269,362 -- 785,561
226,227 269,362 16,300 511,889
2018 2017
$ $
5,000,000 5,000,000
1,512,973 1,685,996
1,685,996 1,548,597
- {147,485)
(247,178) 406,761
74,155 {121,877)
1,512,973 1,685,996
(51)



==

[

=]

==

,_
ks

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

15 Brokerage fee and commission expense
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2018 2017
$ $
Commisston sharing expenses 17,979 -
Commission rebate 49,5632 50,674
Compensation fund contribution 49,532 50,675
117,043 101,349
Gains/(losses) from financial assets
{Loss)/gain from changes in fair value (26,668) 67,951
Gain/(loss) on sale of financial assets 357,652 (1,748)
330,984 66,202
Other income
Interest income 76,929 78,055
Other fees and commissions 4,022,515 1,249,130
Capital market fee income 26,000,000 7,498 774
Net foreign exchange gain 29 7,080
30,099,473 8,833,038

N I I D O A O aEm e

=l

Included within other income are application, processing and sub-distribution fees earned for services
provided retating to capital market and structuring transactions.

18  Operating expenses

Staff costs 830,704 841,651
Other expenses 254 652 318,170
Depreciation 63,123 47 840
Computer operating expenses 52,5628 35,063
Audit fees 141,750 118,126
Legal and professional fees 79,577 {1,902)
Travel and entertainment 42,050 33,584
Directors emoiuments 134,413 132,551
Capital market expenses 13,963,738 671,661

15,562,535 2,196,744

tncluded within iegal and professicnal fees are amounts that were previously provided for that were
recovered in the financial year.

(52)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

18

19

Operating expenses {(continued) 2018 2017
$ $

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 611,299 618,622

National Insurance 28,725 28,725

Bonus and commissions 119,383 128,055

Health plan expense 8,474 5,667

Pension plan expense 64,823 58,042

Staff training - 2,540

830,704 841,651

The number of permanently employed staff as at the year-end was 2 (2017 2).

Taxation

Deferred tax (Note 12) 19,656 16,300

Corporation tax 5,370,145 2,899,135
5,389,801 2,815,435

The tax on the Company's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise

using the basic rate of tax as follows:

Profit before tax 17,930,216 9,934,542
Tax calculated at 30% 5,379,065 2,980,362
Income exempt from tax (8,000) (69,476)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 29,905 10,958
Net effect of other charges and aliowances {11,169} {6,409)

5,389,801 2,815,435
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2018
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

20  Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The parent of
the Company as at 30 September 2018 was First Citizens Investment Services Limited. First
Citizens Investment Services Limited is incorporated in Trinidad and Tobago with its uitimate parent
company being First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company owned by the Government of the
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT). A number of transactions are entered into with related
parties in the normal course of business. These generally relate to purchase and sale of shares on
behalf of related parties.

Related
Directors companies
30 September 30 September
2018 2017 2018 2017
$ $ $ $
Statement of income
Fees and commission income - - 67,367 7,268
Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits (134,413) (132,551) - -
{134,413) {132,551) 67,367 7,268
Statement of financial position
amounts due (to)/from
Cash and due from other banks - - 37,464,905 14,773,471
Payables and other liabilities - - {4,082,285) (687,902}
- - 33,382,620 14,085,569

21 Commitments

The Company has no capital or credit commitments as at 30 September 2018 (2017: nil).

22 Contingent liabilities

The Company is not involved in any claims and counterclaims arising from the conduct of its business.

23 Subsequent events

There were no events after the financial position date which were materiai to the financial statements
and should have resulted in adjustment to the financial statement or disclosures when the financial
statements were authorised for issue.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Management's Responsibilitics

Management is responsible for the following:

. Preparing and fairly presenting the nccompanying financial statements of First Citizens Brokerage
and Advisory Services Limited which comprise the statement of financial position as at
30 September 2019 and the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary ol significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information;

. Ensuring that the Company keeps proper aceounting records;
. Selecting approprinte accounting, policies and applying them in a consistent manner;
. Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures seenrity of the

Company’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achicvement of Company operational
efficiencies;

. Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;

. Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the
Companies Act; and

. Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited financial statements, management utilised the International Financial
Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting
Standards presented alternative accounting treatments, management chose those considered most
appropriate in the circumstances.

Nothing has come 1o the attention of management to indicate that the Company will not remain a going
concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date the accompanying financial
statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.,

Lo Loclos RS

General Manager ™~ Head - imrarice g/ W
26 November 2019 26 November 201

(1)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the sharcholders of
First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respeets the financial position of
First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited (the Company) as at 30 September 2019, and its
financinl performance and its eash Nows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Company's financial stalements comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2019;

the statement of income for the year ended;

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended: and

the notes to the financial statements, which inelude a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We condueted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further desceribed in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Fthics Standards Board for

Accountants’ Code of Lthics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in aceordance with the IESBA Code,

Responsibilitics of management and those charged with governance for the
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, PO Box 550, 11-13 Victoria Avenue, Port of Spain, Trinided, West Indies
T: (868) 299 0700, F: (868) 623 6025, www.pwe.com/tt
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from materinl misstatement, whether due Lo fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is o high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audil conduteted in accordance with ISAs will always deteet a materinl misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial stalements,

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficicnt and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal conlrol relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of Lhe Company's internal control.

e [Lvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management,

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of cur
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Voo o b e Come pekS

Port of Spain
Trinidad, West Indies
9 December 2019
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

As at
30 September
Notes 2019 2018
$ $

Assets

Cash and due from Other Banks 5 19,574,052 40,188,761
Financial assets

-Fair value through Other

Caomprehensive Income 6 5,602,800 2,375,808

- Fair value through profit or loss 7 146,386 148,893
Other debtors and prepayments 8 443 585 511,404
Tax Recoverable 1,435,139 -

Intangible assets 9 848,571 848,571

Property, plant and equipment 10 227 179 316,514
Total assets 28,277,722 44 389,951
Liabilities

Payables and other liabilities 11 7,234,133 13,377,855

Deferred tax 12 1,435,393 457 390

8,669,526 13,835,245

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 13 5,000,000 5,000,000

Retained earnings 10,836,329 24,041,733

Fair value reserve 14 3,771,867 1,512,973
Total shareholders’ equity 19,608,196 30,554,706
Total equity and liabilities 28,277,722 44,389,951

The notes on pages 9 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements.

On 26 November 2019, the Board of Directors of First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

authorised these financial statements for issue.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Income
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Brokerage fee and commission income
Brokerage fee and commission expense

Net brokerage fee and commission income

Dividend income

Gains from financial assets
Investment management fees
Other income

Total income
Operating expenses

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit after taxation

15

16

17

18

19

Year ended
30 September

2019 2018
$ $

2,568,750 2,466,787
(921,652) (117,043)
1,647,098 2,349,744
426,321 112,550
2,269 330,984
150,000 600,000
891,075 30,099,473
3,116,763 33,492,751
(1,600,412) (15,562,535)
1,516,351 17,930,216
(324,528) (5,389,801)
1,191,823 12,540,415

The notes on pages 9 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Notes
Profit for the year
Change in fair value of other comprehensive income,
net of tax 14
Net loss on financial assets measured at FVOCI 14

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes on pages 9 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Year ended
30 September
2019 2018
$ $

1,191,823 12,540,415

2,258,894 (163,834)
- (9,189)
2,258,894 (173,023)

3,450,717 12,367,392
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Balance as at 1 October 2018

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Change in fair value of Other Comprehensive
Income

Total Comprehensive Income For The Year
Transactions with owners:
Ordinary dividends paid

Extraordinary dividends paid
Total transactions with owners, recognised
directly in equity

Balance as at 30 September 2019

Balance as at 1 October 2017
Change on initial application of IFRS 9

Restated balance as at 1 October 2017

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:

Change in fair value of Other Comprehensive
Income

Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance as at 30 September 2018

Total
Share Retained Fair Value Shareholders’
Capital Earnings Reserve Equity
$ $ $ $

5,000,000 24,041,733 1,512,973 30,554,706
- 34,238 34.238

-- 1,191,823 -- 1,191,823

-- -- 2,258,894 2,258,894

-- 1,191,823 2,258,894 3,450,717

- (6,897,227) -- (6,897,227)

-- (7,500,000) -- (7,500,000)

-- (14,397,227) -- (14,397,227)

5,000,000 10,836,329 3,771,867 19,608,196

5,000,000 11,501,318 1,685,996 18,187,314

-- -- (9,189) (9,189)

5,000,000 11,501,318 1,676,807 18,178,125

-- 12,540,415 -- 12,540,415

-- -- (163,834) (163,834)

12,540,415 (163,834) 12,376,581

5,000,000 24,041,733 1,512,973 30,554,706

The notes on pages 9 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation
Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash
from operating activities:
Depreciation
Fair value Loss/(Gain) on financial assets
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of financial assets
Income taxes paid
Cash flows from operating profits before changes in
operating assets and liabilities
Net change in other debtors and prepayments
Net change in payables and other liabilities

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities

Sale proceeds of financial assets
Purchase of property and equipment
Net change in short term investments

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Ordinary dividends paid

Extraordinary dividends paid

Net cash outflow from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Represented by:
Cash at bank
Short term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Year ended
30 September

2019 2018
$ $
1,516,351 17,930,216
89,335 63,123
(677) 26,668
(1,555) (357,652)
(2,126,144) (5,398,366)
(522,690) 12,263,989
(1,367,331) 4,707,936
(4,332,201) 5,471,868
(6,222,222) 22,443,793
4,740 853,697
- (344,634)
(68,530) (1,714,829)
(63,790) (1,205,766)
(6,897,227) -
(7,500,000)
(14,397,227) -
(20,683,239) 21,238,027
34,758,190 13,520,163
14,074,951 34,758,190
13,367,852 34,060,385
707,099 697,805
14,074,951 34,758,190

The notes on pages 9 to 50 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

1

General information

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited is incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and
Tobago and its principal business includes dealing in securities on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock
Exchange and such other business as is authorised pursuant to its registration under the Securities
Industry Act 1995 of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago.

Effective 1 October 2011, First Citizens Investment Services Limited (FCIS) assumed control of the
Company. The ultimate parent company is First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company with a

77.2% controlling interest and is owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago
(GORTT). The remainder of the shares are listed on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange and are
publicly traded.

The Company’s registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair, Port of Spain.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

a. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS. These financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of freehold premises, fair
value through profit and loss and fair value through other comprehensive income.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(i) Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by
the Company in the current period:

e |IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
(Amendments effective 1 January 2018). This amendments is to clarify the standard
in relation to the accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that
include a performance condition, the classification of share-based payment
transactions with net settlement features, and the accounting for modifications of
share-based payment transactions from cash-settled to equity-settled.

¢ |IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018). This

standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all
contracts with customers. Identify the contract with the customer

9)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
a. Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by
the Company in the current period: (continued)

Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Determine the transaction price

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts

= Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

FCBAS business operations is brokerage and financial advisors. Therefore the
contract would be specific to the brokerage of equity investments on behalf of the
client. Additionally FCBAS major revenue transactions are IPO commission/fees
which are generated on the management of public offerings. FCBAS customers are
identified based on the customer engagement with FCBAS for the management of
their equity investments and public issues. The contracts terms and agreement in
additions to the scope of works are agreed and approved by the relevant parties to
the contract. The IPO contracts clearly identifies the rights and payment terms
regarding the services to be delivered and the structure of the fees and
commissions in the form of the consideration. Each contract has a commercial
substance and it is probable that the entity will collect the consideration to which it
is entitled in exchange for the delivery of its service. The full details of contracts for
the services is contract specific and the performance obligation for FCBAS for its
IPO fees and commissions are genially tied to the size of the IPO. However, the
scope of works are very structured and measured because of the various units and
parties involved. Additionally the associated cost incurred and stage of completion
can be used to recognised and prorate the revenues.

e |IFRIC 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (Effective 1 January 2018).
The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over
income tax treatments under IAS 12. It specifically considers:

e Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively

e Assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations

e The determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates

e The effect of changes in facts and circumstances

(10)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii)

Standards, amendment and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective
and have been early adopted by the Company:

e |IFRS 16 Leases (effective 1 January 2019). This standard specifies how an IFRS
reporter will recognise, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a
single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for all leases unless the lease term in 12 months and less or the
underlying assets has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as
operating or finance.

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new and revised standards not yet
effective on the Financial Statements; we do not anticipate any material impact.

b. Foreign currency translation

@

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
functional currency). The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. The exchange
rate between the TT dollar and the US dollar as at the date of these statements was

TT$6.6926 = US$1.00 (2018: TT$6.6926 = US$1.00), which represent the Company’s
mid-rate.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and
other changes in the carrying amount of security. Translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost are recognised in the profit or loss and other changes in
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation
differences on non-monetary items such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income financial assets are included in other comprehensive
income.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

C.

Cash and due from other banks

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash
balances on hand, deposits with other banks and short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Financial assets and financial liabilities

() Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following business models:
* Hold for trading

* Hold to collect and sell or

* Hold to collect

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following
three measurement categories:

Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)), and that are not designated
at FVPL are measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is
adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described
in note 3.a. Interest income from these financial assets — cash and due from other banks
are included in “Interest income” using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the
assets, where the assets cash flows represents solely payments of principal and interest,
and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised cost which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OClI is reclassified from equity to profit and loss and
recognized in “Net Investment Income”. Financial assets in this category include unlisted
equity instruments that are held for investment.

Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognised in profit or loss and presented in the “income statement within “Gains on
investments securities” in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt
instruments that were classified at fair value or which are not held for trading, in which
case they are presented in Investment Interest Income. Financial assets in this category
include listed equity instruments that are held for investment.

(12)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
d. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)
Group’s Business model

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate
cash flows. An assessment is made at a portfolio level and includes an analysis of factors
such as:

e The stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in practice.
More specifically whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash
flows from the assets or it to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows
arising from the sale of the assets.

o Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected.

o Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and reported to
key management personnel.

o Managements identification of and response to various risks, which includes but not
limited to, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk.

e Management considers, in classifying its assets, the level of historical sales and
forecasted liquidity requirements.

Arising out of the assessment the portfolios were deemed to have the business models
identified as follows:

Hold to Collect & Sell Hold for Trading

Cash Equity Investments

(13)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
d. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)
Impairment

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL)
associated with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure
arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Company
recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of
ECL reflects:

¢ An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range
of possible outcomes;

e The time value of money; and

¢ Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

¢ Note 3.a.iii provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.
Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether flows represent solely
payment of principal and interest (SPPI test). In making this assessment, the Company
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit
risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that
evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments
include ordinary shares.

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or
loss, except where the Company’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to
irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The Company’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those
investments are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this
election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

e. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

(ii)

Equity instruments (continued)

Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognized in
profit or loss as other income when the Company’s right to receive payments is
established.

Gain and losses on equity investments classified as FVPL are included in the Income
Statement.

Financial liabilities

(@)

(b)

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified and
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with
substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of
existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other
qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in,
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the
instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss
on the extinguishment.

If the exchange or madification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs

or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified liability.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

e.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and
accrued over the life of the repo agreement using the effective interest method.

Lease transactions

Leases are accounted for in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. They are divided into
finance leases and operating leases. Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
methods of ownership are retained by another party, the lessor, are classified as operating
leases. Leases of assets where the Company has substantially all the risk and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases.

(i) The Company as the lessee

The Company has entered into operating leases where the total payments made under
operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the period has
expired, any penalty payment made to the lessor is recognised as an expense in the
period in which termination takes place.

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, an asset and liability is recognised in
the statement of financial position at amounts equal at inception to the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the outstanding liability
S0 as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.

The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
g. Lease transactions (continued)
(i) The Company as the lessor

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments
is recognised as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the
present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease
income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before
tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the asset
for each period.

h. Other debtors and prepayments
Other debtors and prepayments consist of amounts due from brokers, clients, staff advances
and related parties. These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
i. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
Leasehold improvements and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation and amortisation are computed on all assets except land.
The provision for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight-line method to

allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Equipment and furniture 4-5 years
Computer equipment and motor vehicles 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements Amortised over the life of the lease

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the assets fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Gains and losses on disposal of
property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are
recognised within the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts
included in fair value reserves are transferred to retained earnings.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

J.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations,
computer software licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at
cost. The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at
the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised using the
straight line method over the period that the benefits from these assets are expected to be
consumed, generally not exceeding 20 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life
are not amortised. At each date of the statement of financial position, intangible assets are
reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits. If
such indications exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying
amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable amount.

The Company chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

0] Other Intangible assets

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from
contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and in the case of
intangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future
economic benefits attributes to the assets with flow from their use. The value of
intangible assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined
using income approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for
impairment, if any, plus reversals of impairment, if any. They are amortised over their
useful lives in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash
flow.

(i)  Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an
expense when incurred. However, expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of
computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and lives is
recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software.
Computer software development costs recognised as assets when the following criteria
are met:

It is technically feasible to complete the software and use it.

Management intends to complete the software and use it.

There an ability to use the software.

Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and
to use it.

e The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably
measured.

The software development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their
useful lives but not exceeding a period of three (3) years.
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

k. Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Pension Plan - First Citizens Group defined benefit pension plan

The FCB Group operates a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines an
amount of pension benefits that an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation.
This pension plan is funded by payments from employees and by the Company, taking
account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee
will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age,
years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in Group’s statement of financial position in respect of defined
benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated based on cash outflows
allocated to current or prior periods using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. In
countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates on
government bonds are used.

Profit sharing and bonus plans

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing,
based on a formula that takes into consideration the Group’s profit before taxation. The
Company recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee stock option plan

The Group operates a cash-settled based remuneration plan for its employees. A
liability is recognised for the fair value of the cash-settled transactions. The fair value is
measured initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date,
with changes in the fair value recognised in the income statement. The fair value is
expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding
liability.

l. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class
of the obligation as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Provisions (continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Payables and other liabilities

Payables and other liabilities represent short term obligations to brokers, clients, business
related expenses and related parties. These are short term in nature and settlement is
expected within one year. Payables and other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
net of transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs

Income taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries where the
Company operates and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill;
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of
financial position date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.

Fee and commission income

IFRS15 core underlying principle is that an entity should recognise revenue in a manner that
depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services to customers. The performance obligations
is very contract specific for the various services: wealth managed client accounts, private
placements, portfolio management fees and commissions and mutual funds portfolio
management.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

0.

Fee and commission income (continued)

Fees and commissions are recognised at a point in time when the service has been provided.
Commissions and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a
transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other
securities or the purchase or sale of businesses are recognised at a point in time on
completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and
service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts usually on a time
apportioned basis, which is normally on a monthly billing cycle at a point in time.

Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period
the service is provided and accrued in accordance with pre-approved fee scales. The same
principle is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services that are
continuously provided over an extended period of time. Performance linked fees or fee
components are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled at a point in time.

Brokerage & Advisory fees are generally recognized at a point in time upon full completion of
the scope of works to the contract, however, for Initial Public Offerings and services of that
nature the performance obligation maybe specific to the stage of completion of the services
performance obligation. In addition some contracts may require variation to the performance
obligation based on the client specifications. These contract would qualify for revenue
recognition over time.

The impact from the transition to IFRS 15 as at September 30™, 2019 is Nil.
Investment management fees

From October 2011, management fees related to the provision of portfolio and other
management advisory services are recognised monthly based on a fixed Service Level
Agreement between the Company and its parent which is reviewed annually. This agreement
covers the provision of the advisory services.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest
bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method based on the initial
carrying amount. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and
deposits.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance)
or the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit
losses and include transaction cost, premium, discounts and fees and point paid or received
that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result

of an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cashflows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

r.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised in the statement of income when the Company's right to receive
payment is established.

Dividend distribution

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are
approved by the Board of Directors. Dividends for the year, which are declared after the year-
end, are disclosed in the subsequent events note when applicable.

Fiduciary activities

The Company acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or
placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other

institutions. These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial
statements, as they are not assets of the Company.
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3

Financial risk management

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks.
Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The Company’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial
performance.

The Company’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of
reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Company regularly reviews its risk management
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors of First Citizens Bank Limited (the Group) has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. To assist the Board of
Directors in fulfilling its duties, two Board sub-committees were established at the First Citizens
Group level to monitor and report to the Board of Directors on the overall risks within the First
Citizens Group - the Board Enterprise Risk Management Committee and the Board Credit
Committee, and one management level committee - Asset Liability Committee.

The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit, headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer, reports to
both sub-committees of the Board. They are responsible for the management, measurement,
monitoring and control of operational, market and credit risk for the Group through the Group
Operational Risk & Controls Unit, Group Credit Risk and Administration Unit, Group Market Risk
Unit and Group Business Continuity Planning Unit. The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit
reports into the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee to allow monitoring of the
adherence to risk limits and the impact of developments in the aforementioned risk areas on
strategy and how strategy should be varied in light of the developments.

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) was established to manage and monitor the policies and
procedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and other factors that can affect the Group’s liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to
acceptable levels by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and
liabilities across the Bank and the Group’s various companies via the Group’s Treasury and
International Trade Centre. The Group Treasury and International Trade Centre’s primary role and
responsibility is to actively manage the Group’s liquidity and market risks. The ALCO is also
supported in some specific areas of activity by the Bank’s Market Risk Committee.

As part of its mandate, the Board establishes written principles for overall risk management, as
well as ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments. In addition, the Group Internal Audit Department is responsible for the
independent review of risk management and the control environment, and reports its findings and
recommendation to the Board Audit Committee.

The Board of Directors of the FCIS Group has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the FCIS Group’s risk management framework. The Board of FCIS has also
established a Risk Management Committee (RMC) which oversees the risk management function
of the FCIS Group.

The most important types of risk are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and other operational risk.
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.
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2 Financial risk management (continued)

a.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing
to discharge an obligation. The Company generally does not provide advances to customers
nor does it invest in debt securities. As a result, its exposure to credit risk is limited to other
registered brokers and client accounts that are substantively supported by underlying
securities. At 30 September 2019, the Company had no financial assets which were either
impaired or past due.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

Credit risk exposure relating to on-statement of financial position assets are as follows:

2019 2018
$ $
Cash and due from other banks 19,574,052 40,188,761
Other debtors 404,498 503,753
19,978,550 40,692,514

There were no credit risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position items.

(i)

Credit risk management

In its management of credit risks, the Group has established an organisational
structure which supports the lending philosophy of the Group. This structure
comprises the Board of Directors, the Board Credit Committee (BCC), Senior
Management Enterprise Risk Committee (SMERC), the Group Chief Risk Officer
(GCRO), the Group Credit Risk Management Unit and the Internal Audit Department.
The Board of Directors maintains general oversight to ensure that policies and
procedures are consistent with the strategic direction and credit philosophy of the
Group and that they serve to bring the required level of protection over assets that are
exposed to credit risks. To facilitate day to day decision making and timely
implementation of decisions, the Board has delegated authority for specific areas to
specific committees and/or officers with an appropriate reporting system to the Board.
The BCC focuses primarily on credit risk appetite and in so doing sanctions
amendments to credit policies, delegation of lending authority to senior management
and credit requests exceeding the authority of management. The SMERC together
with the GCRO monitors the effectiveness of credit policies and procedures and may
direct changes to strategies to improve the effectiveness of policies. The major focus
of the Credit Risk Management Unit is to formulate credit policies, monitor compliance
with them and on a continuous basis to assess their relevance to the changing
business environment. Most of these policies are established and communicated
through the Group’s written Credit Policy Manual. This document sets out in detail the
current policies governing the lending function and provides a comprehensive
framework for prudent risk management of the credit function. Major areas of focus
are General Credit Policy Guidelines, Exercise of Lending Authority, Credit Review
Process, Credit Risk Rating and Classification System, among others.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit risk measurement (continued)

(a) Other assets

The Company exposure to credit risk is the outstanding amounts due from clients
and brokerage company which are settled within three working days following
month end.

Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS9 outlines a ‘three stage’ mode; for impairment based on changes in credit quality

since initial recognition as summarized below:

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in
Stage 1 and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group.

If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified,
the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved
to ‘Stage 3.

Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to
the portion of lifetime expected credit losses within the next 12 months. Instruments
in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a
lifetime basis.

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward- looking information.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets
that are credit- impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a
lifetime basis (Stage 3).
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

(iii)

Expected credit loss measurement (continued)

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(initial Recognition) (Significant increase in
credit risk) (Credit - impaired assets)

12 month expected credit losses

Investments

Lifetime expected credit
losses

Lifetime expected credit
losses

Criteria

Investment Grade Portfolio

Single “B” Speculative Grade
Portfolio

Absolute Measure

PD- 12.5% or lower

PD -25% or lower

AND

AND

AND

Relative Measure

Credit rating reverts to level just prior
being deemed an having an SICR

One notch downgrade (internal
rating scale)

OR

OR

OR

Special Consideration

No credit stop loss breaches

No credit stop loss breaches
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

(iv)

v)

Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The FCB Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with
the definition of credit- impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitative criteria
The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

Qualitative criteria

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in

significant financial difficulty. These are instances where:

e The borrower formally files for bankruptcy or there is a commencement of
foreclosure proceedings.

e The obligation is classified Doubtful or worse as per the Group’s classification
process.

¢ A modification to the terms and conditions of the original agreement that would not
normally be considered is executed

e Restructure proceedings or an indication of the intention to restructure is initiated
by the issuer (investments only).

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Group and
are consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management
purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability
of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout
the Group’s expected loss calculations.

Risk limit control and mitigation policy

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the
amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, groups of borrowers, industry and
country segments. The Group monitors its concentration of credit exposure so that no
single borrower or industry default will have a material impact on the Group. These
limits are implemented and monitored by the Credit Risk Management Unit via the
stipulations of the Group Credit Policy Manual. In instances where it is strategically
beneficial and adequately documented, the Group would seek approval on an exception
basis for variation to its standard approved limits from the Board of Directors.

() Industry exposure limits

These limits have been established based on a ranking of the riskiness of various
industries. The ranking is guided by a model developed for the Group for this
purpose. The model utilises a scale incorporating scores of 1 to 8 with 1 being the
least risky. These have been consolidated into four (4) bands of exposure limits
which have been set in relation to the total credit portfolio with a relatively smaller
limit being assigned to the more risky industries.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

v)

(i)

Risk limit control and mitigation policy (continued)

(b) Country exposure limits

Exposure limits have been established for selected countries which are considered
to be within the Group’s off-shore target market. Five risk categories have been
developed and the selected countries have been assigned to these categories
based either on ratings issued by acceptable rating agencies or the Group’s own
internal assessment of the economic and political stability of the target. Maximum
cross border exposure has been limited to a pre-determined portion of total assets
and this amount is allocated to the various risk categories with a larger share being
allocated to the more highly rated categories.

(c) Collateral

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The
most common of these is accepting collateral for funds advanced. The Group has
internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk
mitigation.

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not changed significantly
during the period and there has been no significant change in the overall quality of
the collateral held by the Group since the prior period.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancement
Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows:

Gross
maximum
exposure

2019
$°000

Cash and due from Other Banks

Financial assets

- Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income
- Fair value through profit or loss

Other assets

19,574,052

5,602,800
146,386
404,498

Gross
maximum
exposure

2018
$’000

40,188,761
2,375,808

148,893
503,753

25,727,736

43,217,215

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the

Company as at 30 September 2019 and 30 September 2018, without taking account of
any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. The exposures set out
above are based on gross carrying amounts before impairment. There are no credit
risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position items.

As shown above, of the total maximum exposure is derived from cash and due from
other banks and receivables is 67% (September 2018: 94%); while 33% represents
investments (September: 6%).
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3. Financial risk management (continued)
a. Credit risk (continued)

Write-off policy

The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical
recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and
(i) where the group’s effort to dispose of repossess collateral is such that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering in full.

The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The
outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 30
September 2019 was $55,999.32 (2018: nil). The Company still seeks to recover amounts it is
legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation
of full recovery.

(viii)  Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure — Geographical
sectors

The following table breaks down the Company’s main credit exposure at their carrying
amounts, as categorised by geographical region as of 30 September 2019. For this
table, the Company has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of
domicile of its counterparties. The Company’s investment portfolio comprising cash and
cash equivalents, financial assets — Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income,
Fair value through Profit and Loss and Other Assets and Receivables domiciled within
the Caribbean. Limits for each country are reviewed on an annual or more frequent
basis and the exposures are monitored on a daily basis. The country exposures are
categorised into one regional sector and the sector concentration within the portfolio is

as follows:
Caribbean Total
$°000 $°000
At 30 September 2019
Cash and due from other banks 19,574,052 19,574,052
Other assets and receivables 404,498 404,498
As at 30 September 2019 19,978,550 19,978,550
Caribbean Total
$’000 $’000
At 30 September 2018
Cash and due from other banks 40,188,761 40,188,761
Other assets and receivables 503,753 503,753
As at 30 September 2018 40,692,514 40,692,514
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b.

(i)

Market risk

The Company takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market
risks arise from open positions in equity products which are exposed to general and specific
market movements and changes in the level of volatility of equity prices. The Company
separates exposures to market risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios.

The market risks arising from trading and non-trading activities are measured separately by the
Group Market Risk Unit who submit reports to the Senior Management Enterprise Risk
Committee on a regular basis and also reports via the Enterprise Risk Unit to the Board
Enterprise Risk Committee to enable Board oversight of market risk issues.

Additionally, on a monthly basis, the Bank’s Market Risk Committee reviews and approves the
yield curves used to value all investment securities and reports on this into the Group ALCO.
This Committee also provides for the consideration of the Group ALCO technical information that
may be relevant to current and developing market conditions from time to time.

Additionally, on a monthly basis, the FCIS Group Risk Management Committee reviews and
approves the prices all investment securities which are valued using valuation techniques.
Trading portfolios include those portfolios arising from market-making transactions where the
Group acts as a principal with clients or with the market. Trading portfolios are those positions
entered into primarily to take advantage of market movements to generate capital gains.
Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest-rate management of the Group’s retail
and commercial banking assets and liabilities.

Non-trading portfolios also consist of interest rate, foreign exchange and equity risks arising
from the Company’s financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income.

As part of the management of market risk, the Company uses overall exposure in relation to
capital as the basis for controlling market risk.

As at 30 September 2019, the total value of assets to which the Company faced market risk
represented 50% of capital (30 September 2018: 50%).

Currency risk sensitivity
The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. As at 30 September 2019,

the Company had 19% cash and due from other banks (30 September 2018: 8%) and 0.45%
liabilities (30 September 2018: 0.23%) denominated in a foreign currency.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b. Market risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Currency risk sensitivity (continued)

Based on net foreign currency positions at 30 September 2019 the effect of a 2.5%
depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago dollar against the respective currencies is as
follows:

usD JMD BBD
$ $ $
At 30 September 2019
Loss (92,429) (3,104) (75)
At 30 September 2018
Loss (79,703) (3,100) (48)

The effect of a 2.5% depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago dollar against the US dollar
would reduce Net income after tax by 8% (2018: 1%).

The sensitivity analysis for currency rate risk in the following table illustrates how
changes in the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign currency exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. For the sensitivity analysis, a 5% movement in USD to TTD exchange rates was
used for 30 September 2019 and 30 September 2018.

Effects on shareholders’ equity

Year ended Year ended
30 September 2019 30 September 2018
+ 5% - 5% + 5% - 5%
$ $ $ $
Effects on shareholders’ equity 189,479 (189,479) 163,391 (163,391)

Foreign exchange risk

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. It is the policy of the
Company not to engage in speculative foreign exchange activities, The Board sets limits
on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are
monitored periodically. The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities
to mitigate currency risk. The Company’s strategy of managing this risk is to buy low and
sell high; establish relationships with corporate foreign exchange earners; limit foreign
exchange exposure; avoid speculation with an aim to keep a balanced position; and
match foreign currency denominated assets with foreign currency denominated liabilities.
The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate currency
risk.The table below summarises the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
rate risk at September. Included in the table are the Company’s financial instruments at
carrying amounts, categorised by currency.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b. Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

At September 30 2019

Assets

Cash and due from other
banks

Financial assets

- Fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income

- Fair value through profit or
loss

Other Assets & Receivables

Total

Liabilities
Other liabilities and accrued
expenses

Total liabilities
Net on-balance sheet
financial position

At September 30 2018

Assets

Cash and due from other banks
Financial assets

- Fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income

- Fair value through profit or loss
Other Assets & Receivables

Total

Liabilities

Other liabilities and accrued
expenses

Total liabilities
Net on-balance sheet financial
position

TT us JMD BBD Total
$ $ $ $
15,768,027 3,678,746 127,279 - 19,574,052
5,602,800 -- -- -- 5,602,800
265 146,121 -- -- 146,386
403,829 669 -- -- 404,498
21,774,921 3,825,536 127,279 - 25,727,736
7,201,250 35,950 -- (3,067) 7,234,133
7,201,250 35,950 -- (3,067) 7,234,133
14,573,671 3,789,586 127,279 3,067 18,493,603
TT us JMD BBD Total
$ $ $ $ $
36,906,788 3,155,624 126,349 -- 40,188,761
2,375,808 -- -- -- 2,375,808
4,830 144,063 -- -- 148,893
502,986 -- 767 -- 503,753
39,790,412 3,299,687 127,116 -- 43,217,215
13,347,957 31,873 -- (1,975) 13,377,855
13,347,957 31,873 -- (1,975) 13,377,855
26,442,455 3,267,814 127,116 (1,975) 29,839,360
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b. Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk management focuses on potential changes in net interest income
resulting from changes in interest rates, product spreads and mismatches in the re-
pricing between interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities. Cash flow interest rate risk
is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The
Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of
market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may
increase as a result of such changes but may also reduce resulting in losses in the
event that unexpected movements arise. The Company’s objective in the management
of its interest rate risk is to reduce the sensitivity of its earnings and overall portfolio
value to fluctuations in the interest rate. The strategy employed to achieve this involves

the active pricing of diversifying portfolios in accordance with market trends and
reducing funding mismatch through long-term instruments. The table below
summarises the Company’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Company’s

financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual

repricing or maturity dates.

Interest rate maturities
At 30 September 2019
Assets

Cash and due from
other banks

Total

Interest rate maturities
At 30 September 2018
Assets

Cash and due from
other banks

Total

Non-
Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 interest
month months months years years Bearing Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
13,367,852 - 6,206,200 - -- 19,574,052
13,367,852 -- 6,206,200 - -- 19,574,052
Non-
Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 interest
month months months years years Bearing Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
33,836,185 - 6,128,376 - 224,200 40,188,761
33,836,185 -- 6,128,376 - 224,200 40,188,761
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b. Market risk (continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued)

If interest rates were to move by 1% the impact on net interest income will be $852
(2018: $769)

Price risk

Price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from
interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to
the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The Company is affected by changing prices of equity
instruments mainly classified as fair value through other comprehensive income securities
with fair value movements recognised in shareholders’ equity. Management has determined
that the impact of the price risk on equity instruments classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income is immaterial at the end of both periods reported.

The sensitivity analysis for price risk below illustrates how changes in the fair value of the
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes to prices at the
end of the reporting period. Other than assets categorised as investment securities which are
carried at fair value, the carrying value of all other financial assets and liabilities as presented
on the statement of financial position is not significantly different from their fair value.

For the sensitivity analysis, a 10% movement in prices was used for 30 September 2019 and
30 September 2018: (10%).

Effects on profit before tax

Year ended Year ended
30 September 2019 30 September 2018
+10% -10% + 10% - 10%
$ $ $ $

Financial assets:
-Fair value through other 560,280 (560,280) 237,581 (237,581)
Comprehensive income
-Fair value through profit or loss 14,639 (14,639) 14,889 (14,889)
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3

Financial risk management (continued)

d.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash
or its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fall
due under normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows. The
undiscounted receivables and payables liquidity exposure is mitigated because these cash flows
are generally settled within three to thirty days.

Liquidity risk management process

The Group’s liquidity management process is carried out by the Treasury and International
Trade Centre and monitored by the Group’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO). The Group’s
liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that there are adequate reserves of cash
and other liquid securities to satisfy current and prospective commitments arising from either on-
statement of financial position or off-statement of financial position liabilities. The Group relies on
a broad range of funding sources and applies prudent limits to avoid undue concentration.
Current and projected cash flows are monitored, together with diversification of funding and
contingency planning, and ensuring that funding disturbances are minimised.

Compliance with liquidity policies and risk limits is tracked by Group Market Risk Unit and
reported into the Senior Risk Management Committee via the Group Enterprise Risk Unit to the
Board Enterprise Risk Committee.

The Company’s financial liabilities are all payable within 1 month as at the statement of financial
position date.

Off-statement of financial position items

0) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities
As of 30 September 2019, the Company had no financial guarantees or other financial
facilities that result in a commitment to meet financial obligations (2018: nil).

(i)  Capital commitments

The Company had no capital commitments as at 30 September 2019 (2018: nil).

(i)  Operating lease commitments

The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 30 September 2019
(2018: nil).

Operational risk

Operating risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud and
external events. The Company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the
avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Company’s reputation with overall cost
effectiveness and innovation. The Company manages this risk by developing standards and
guidelines in the following areas:

Appropriate segregation of duties and access.
Reconciling and monitoring of transactions.
Documentation of controls and procedures.
Training and development of staff.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
f. Operational risk (continued)

Reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial actions.
Development of contingency plans.

Information security.

Assessments of the processes.

Business continuity planning

g. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial
assets presented on the statement of financial position at an amount other than their fair

value.

Carrying value Fair value

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $

Financial assets
Cash and due from
other banks 19,574,052 40,188,761 19,574,052 40,188,761
Other debtors’ 404,498 503,753 404,498 503,753

19,978,550 40,692,514 19,978,550 40,692,514

Financial liabilities
Other liabilities 7,234,133 13,377,855 7,234,133 13,377,855

The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are determined in accordance with
International Accounting Standard (IFRS) 9 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Financial instruments where carrying value is equal to fair value

Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial
instruments approximate their fair values.

Financial instruments where carrying value is approximately equal to fair value include
cash and due from other banks, financial assets (fair value through other comprehensive
income and fair value through profit or loss) and other debtors.

Cash and due from other banks

This amount represents short term deposits and other bank balances. The fair value of
these short term deposits is approximately equal to their carrying amount.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

g. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)
Receivables

Receivables are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of
receivables represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected
to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to
determine fair value. As at the date of these financial statements the ECL for the
receivables is nil.

Amortised cost

Fair value for Amortised Cost assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer price
guotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using a
discounted cash flow valuation methodology where all cash-flows of the instruments
are discounted at an appropriate yield plus a credit spread where applicable. The fair
value of the held-to-maturity portfolio is computed for disclosure purposes only. There
are no observable prices for these instruments and as such they are considered level 3
instruments. There were no investments held at amortised cost to Sept 2019 (Sept
2018: nil).

Bank overdraft

The fair values of bank overdraft is equal to its carrying value as such instruments are
subject to floating rates of interest which reset on a daily, monthly or quarterly basis.

Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to
these valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect
market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the
Company’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following
fair value hierarchy:

e Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.
e Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices). This level includes debt instruments.

e Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (that is, unobservable inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt
instruments with significant unobservable components.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
g. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at

fair value at:
As at 30 September 2019

-Fair value through Other -- --
Comprehensive Income
-Fair value through Profit and Loss 146,386 --

Total 146,386 --

As at 30 September 2018

-Fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income -- --
-Fair value through Profit and Loss 148,893

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ $ $ $
5,602,800 5,602,800
-- 146,386
5,602,800 5,749,186
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ $ $ $
2,375,808 2,375,808
-- -- 148,893
2,375,808 2,524,701

Total 148,893 --

h. Capital management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the

‘equity’ on the face of the statement of financial position are:

. To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets

where the Company operates;

. To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can

continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

. To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Company’s
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago
Securities and Exchange Commission (the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required

information is filed with the Authority on a regular basis as required.

The Authority requires each securities company to hold the minimum level of regulatory
capital of five million Trinidad and Tobago dollars. During those two periods, the Company
complied with all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are outlined below:

a.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category comprises two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated by the Group as fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading.

For financial instruments traded in an active market, the determination of fair values of
financial assets and liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or
regulatory agency, and these prices represent actual and regular occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is
regarded as being inactive. Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-
offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent
transactions. When a market becomes inactive, the valuation technique utilised makes use of
the quoted price even though the market is not active.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):

The Group uses the discounted cash flow method to determine the fair value of Financial
Assets through other comprehensive income not traded in active markets. The discounted
cash flow method discounts the cash-flows of the financial assets at an appropriate yield plus
a credit spread where applicable.

The Company’s financial assets at Fair value through other comprehensive income
represents equity shares held for Investments. The share price is determined using a
projected dividend growth in the Dividend Discount Model (DDM), which values a share price
based on its predicted future dividend payments and discounting them back to present value.
The expected growth rate is calculated using a five year trend of return of equity by the
payout ratio for the dividends received.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

c. Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised
cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions
about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting
and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used
in measuring ECL is further detailed in note 3.a.v, which also sets out key sensitivities of the ECL
to changes in these elements.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for
measuring ECL, such as:

Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of
product/market and the associated ECL; and
e Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Group in the above areas is
set out in note 3.a.vi.

d. Income taxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes and there are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made. When appropriate, particularly where the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain, management also obtains opinions or advice from leading tax
advisors and regularly reassesses its strategy in relation to such exposures.

The Company is subject to income tax in variance jurisdictions. Tax is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Substantive enactment is
considered to be achieved when further steps in the enactment process will not change the outcome
of a proposed change in tax law. Management considers the legislative process applicable in each
jurisdiction in which it operates in determining at what point a proposed change in tax law will be
considered substantively enacted by identifying the point after which further steps in the enactment
process will not affect the outcome of the proposed change. The Corporation tax rate for Trinidad
and Tobago was 30% in 2019 (2018:30%).

e. Fees and commissions

The standard outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 does not distinguish between revenue from sales of goods
and services or construction contracts. Instead, it defines transactions based on performance
obligations satisfied over time or at a point in time. The core underlying principle is that an entity
should recognise revenue in a manner that depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services
to customers. The amount recognised should reflect the amount to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services.
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

e. Fees and commissions (continued)

Revenue Allocate the Recognise revenue Timing of Impact from

type transaction priceto | when (or as) each revenue adopting
separate performance obligation | recognition IFRS15
performance is satisfied
obligations

Capital Revenue are There is not separation of | Completion Nil

markets recognized at a point | performance obligation of full service
in time upon full at a point in
completion of the time
scope of works to the
contract

Wealth Revenue are There is not separation of | Completion Nil

Management | recognized at a point | performance obligation of full service
in time upon full at a point in
completion of the time
scope of works to the
contract

Brokerage & | For general The separation of the For IPO fees | As at

Advisory Brokerage and performance obligation it would be September
Advisory revenues would be specific to the based on 30t 2019 the
are recognized at a engagement and separation impact on the
point in time upon full | agreement with the client | based on adopting of
completion of the performance | IFRS15 would
scope of works to the obligation as | be Nil
contract, however, for be the because there
Initial Public offerings contact, this were no
the performance would be contract in of
obligation maybe over time. that nature at
specific to stage of the balance
completion of the sheet date.
services delivered

Pension Revenue are There is not separation of | Completion Nil

Fund & recognized at a point | performance obligation of full service

Private in time upon full at a point in

Portfolio completion of the time
scope of works to the
contract

Other Revenue are There is not separation of | Completion Nil
recognized at a point | performance obligation of full service
in time upon full at a point in
completion of the time

scope of works to the
contract

The impact from the transition to IFRS 15 as at September 30, 2019 is Nil.
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5 Cash and due from Other Banks

Cash at bank
Short term deposit

Short-term investments:
- Maturity within 3 months
- Maturity over 3 months

2019 2018
$ $
13,367,852 34,060,385
6,206,200 6,128,376
19,574,052 40,188,761
2019 2018
$ $
707,099 697,805
5,499,101 5,430,571
6,206,200 6,128,376

The average effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 1.18% in September 2019 (2018:
1.23%); these deposits have an average maturity of 90 days (2018: 90 days). The average
effective interest rate on investments with a maturity of over 3 months (365 days) is 1.57% (2018:

1.70%).

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flow:

Cash and bank balances

Short-term investments — maturity within three months

Cash and cash equivalents

- Listed
- Unlisted

Financial assets through other comprehensive income

13,367,852 34,060,385
707,099 697,805
14,074,951 34,758,190
5,602,800 2,375,808
5,602,800 2,375,808

The movement in financial assets valued at fair value through other comprehensive income may be

summarised as follows:

At beginning of year
Gains/(Losses) from changes in fair value
Fair value through Profit and Loss

At end of year

2,375,808 2,639,394
3,226,992 (247,176)

- (16,410)
5,602,800 2,375,808
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7 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2019 2018
$ $
Equity securities
- Listed 146,386 148,893

The movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may be summarised as follows:

At beginning of year 148,893 655,195
Disposals (4,740) (496,044)
(Losses)/Gains from changes in fair value (Note 16) 2,269 (26,668)
Assets written off (36) --
Reclassification of Other comprehensive income to

Fair value through profit and loss - 16,410
At end of year 146,386 148,893

The above securities are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in
accordance with a documented risk management strategy, and information about the groups of
financial instruments is reported to management on that basis.

8 Other debtors and prepayments

2019 2018
$ $
Due from brokers 309,288 456,181
Due from clients 80,688 56
Other debtors 14,522 47,516
Prepayments 39,097 7,651
443,595 511,404

As at the date of these financial statements, the ECL on these receivables is nil.

9 Intangible assets

The Company purchased 10 Class “A” shares in the TTSE in 2001. This purchase gave the
Company the right to conduct brokerage operations on the TTSE. In 2012, these shares were
converted to 110,400 ordinary shares due to a restructuring at the TTSE. The cost of the right
obtained is presented as an intangible asset. Although there is no active market for the right, the
intangible asset is reviewed annually for impairment.
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10  Property, plant and equipment

Office
equipment,
Computer furniture &
equipment motor vehicles Total
$ $ $
Year ended 30 September 2019
Opening net book value 13,997 302,517 316,514
Additions - - -
Disposals - - --
Depreciation on disposals -- -- --
Depreciation charge (6,830) (82,505) (89,335)
Closing net book value 7,167 220,012 227,179
At 30 September 2019
Cost 33,248 330,019 363,267
Accumulated depreciation (26,081) (110,007) (136,088)
Net book value 7,167 220,012 227,179
Year ended 30 September 2018
Opening net book value 5,204 29,799 35,003
Additions 14,615 330,019 344,634
Disposals -- (178,798) (178,798)
Depreciation on disposals -- 178,798 178,798
Depreciation charge (5,822) (57,301) (63,123)
Closing net book value 13,997 302,517 316,514
At 30 September 2018
Cost 33,248 330,019 363,267
Accumulated depreciation (19,251) (27,502) (46,753)
Net book value 13,997 302,517 316,514
At 30 September 2017
Cost 18,633 178,798 197,431
Accumulated depreciation (13,429) (148,999) (162,428)
Net book value 5,204 29,799 35,003
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11

12

Payables and other liabilities

Due to brokers

Due to clients

Due to related parties
Tax Payable

2019 2018
$ $
344,446 6,268,802
5,280,286 2,650,386
1,609,401 4,082,285
- 376,382
7,234,133 13,377,855

The Corporation tax payable for 30 September 2019 was nil (2018: $376,382)

Deferred income tax assets

Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal

tax rate of 30%.

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

At beginning of year

Statement of income charge (Note 19)

Fair value reserve (Note 14)

At end of year

Deferred tax assets

Financial assets at fair value
through the profit or loss

Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

Deferred tax liabilities

Prior period change in Tax
Financial assets at fair value
through the profit or loss

Deferred income tax liability

Net deferred income tax liability

2019 2018
$ $
457,390 511,889
9,905 19,656
968,098 (74,155)
1,435,393 457,390
Opening Closing
balance Charged to balance
1 October Fair value  statement of 30 September
2018 reserve income 2019
$ $ $ $
(160,357) - (203) (160,560)
(93,659) - 10,108 (83,551)
(254,016) - 9,905 (244,111)
147,485 - -- 147.485
563,921 968,098 - 1,532,019
711,406 968,098 - 1,679,504
457,390 968,098 9,905 1,435,393
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12  Deferred income tax assets (continued)

Opening Closing
balance Charged to balance
1 October Fair value  statement of 30 September
2017 reserve income 2018
Deferred tax assets $ $ $ $
Financial assets at fair value
through the profit or loss (168,366) -- 8,009 (160,357)
Accelerated tax depreciation (105,306) -- 11,647 (93,659)
Net deferred income tax asset (273,672) -- 19,656 (254,016)
Deferred tax liabilities
Prior period change in Tax 147,485 -- -- 147,485
Financial assets at fair value
through the profit or loss 638,076 (74,155) -- 563,921
Deferred income tax liability 785,561 (74,155) -- 711,406
Net deferred income tax liability 511,889 (74,155) 19,656 457,390
13  Share capital 2019 2018
$ $
Authorised
An unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value
Issued and fully paid
5,000,000 ordinary shares of no par 5,000,000 5,000,000
14  Fair value reserve 2019 2018
$ $
Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income 3,771,867 1,512,973
Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income
At beginning of year 1,512,973 1,685,996
Net gains from changes in fair value 3,226,992 (247,178)
Deferred tax charge (Note 12) (968,098) 74,155
At end of year 3,771,867 1,512,973
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15 Brokerage fee and commission expense

2019 2018

$ $
Commission sharing expenses 818,898 17,979
Commission rebate 51,377 49,532
Compensation fund contribution 51,377 49,532
921,652 117,043

The business entered into a new commission sharing agreement with internal stakeholders, which
has resulted in an increase in commission sharing expenses in 2019:; $674,383.44 (2018: nil).

16  Gains/(losses) from financial assets

Gain / (Loss) from changes in fair value 677 (26,668)
Gain on sale of financial assets 1,592 357,652
2,269 330,984

17  Other income

Interest income 85,174 76,929
Other fees and commissions 54,089 4,022,515
Capital market fee income 751,945 26,000,000
Net foreign exchange gain (133) 29

891,075 30,099,473

Included within other income are application, processing and sub-distribution fees earned for
services provided relating to capital market and structuring transactions.

18 Operating expenses

Staff costs 942,457 830,704
Other expenses 228,355 254,652
Depreciation 89,335 63,123
Computer operating expenses 71,026 52,528
Audit fees 147,656 141,750
Legal and professional fees 81,907 79,577
Travel and entertainment 66,815 42,050
Directors emoluments 134,415 134,413
Capital market expenses (161,554) 13,963,738

1,600,412 15,562,535

Capital market expenses for 2019 reflects a net recovered amount for over accrued fees from 2018
for IPO fees.
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18 Operating expenses (continued) 2019 2018
$ $
Staff costs

Wages and salaries 716,274 611,299
National Insurance 30,703 28,725

Bonus and commissions 110,859 119,383

Health plan expense 6,686 6,474
Pension plan expense 73,953 64,823

Staff training 3,982 --
942,457 830,704

The number of permanently employed staff as at the year-end was 2 (2018: 2).

19 Taxation 2019 2018
$ $
Deferred tax (Note 12) 9,905 19,656
Corporation tax 342,346 5,370,145
Prior year under/(over) provision (27,723) --
324,528 5,389,801

The tax on the Company's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the basic rate of tax as follows:

Profit before tax 1,516,351 17,930,216

Tax calculated at 30% 454,905 5,379,065

Prior year under/(over) provision (27,723)

Income exempt from tax (142,357) (8,000)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 29,595 29,905

Net effect of other charges and allowances 10,108 (11,169)
324,528 5,389,801
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20 Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The parent of
the Company as at 30 September 2019 was First Citizens Investment Services Limited. First
Citizens Investment Services Limited is incorporated in Trinidad and Tobago with its ultimate parent
company being First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company owned by the Government of the
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT). A number of transactions are entered into with related
parties in the normal course of business. These generally relate to purchase and sale of shares on
behalf of related parties.

Related
Directors companies
30 30 30 30
September September September September
2019 2018 2019 2018
$ $ $ $
Statement of income
Fees and commission income -- -- 74,939 67,367
Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits (134,415) (134,413) -- --
(134,415) (134,413) 74,939 67,367
Statement of financial position
amounts due (to)/from
Cash and due from other banks -- -- 18,739,570 37,464,905
Payables and other liabilities -- -- (1,609,402) (4,082,285)
- - 17,130,168 33,382,620

21 Commitments

The Company has no capital or credit commitments as at 30 September 2019 (2018: nil).

22  Contingent liabilities

The Company is not involved in any claims and counterclaims arising from the conduct of its business.

23  Subsequent events
There were no events after the financial position date which were material to the financial statements

and should have resulted in adjustment to the financial statement or disclosures when the financial
statements were authorised for issue.

(49)
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First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Management’s Responsibilities

Management is responsible for the following:

e Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying financial statements of First Citizens Brokerage
and Advisory Services Limited (the “Company”) which comprise the statement of financial position as
at 30 September 2020 and the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information;

e Ensuring that the Company keeps proper accounting records;
e Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;

e Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of the
Company’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of Company operational
efficiencies;

o Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;

e  Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the
Companies Act; and

e Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited financial statements, management utilised the International Financial
Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting
Standards presented alternative accounting treatments, management chose those considered most
appropriate in the circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that the Company will not remain a going
concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date the accompanying financial
statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.

Yo (L

General Manager ;
2 December 2020 2 December 204

®



Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of
First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of First
Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited (the Company) as at 30 September 2020, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Company’s financial statements comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2020;

the statement of income for the year ended,;

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the TESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, PO Box 550, 11-13 Victoria Avenue, Port of Spain, Trinidad, West Indies

T:

(868) 299 o700, F: (868) 623 6025, www.pwe.com/tt



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our ohjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Port of Spain
Trinidad, West Indies
8 December 2020

(3)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

As at
30 September
Notes 2020 2019
$ $
Assets
Cash and due from other banks 5 19,006,239 19,574,052
Financial assets
- Fair value through other
comprehensive income 6 5,174,465 5,602,800
- Fair value through profit or loss 7 127,028 146,386
Other debtors and prepayments 8 641,222 443,595
Tax recoverable 1,450,750 1,435,139
Intangible assets 9 848,571 848,571
Property, plant and equipment 10 139,148 227,179
Total assets 27,387,423 28,277,722
Liabilities
Payables and other liabilities 11 4,641,869 7,234,133
Tax payable 322,016 -
Deferred tax 12 1,315,872 1,435,393
6,279,757 8,669,526
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 13 5,000,000 5,000,000
Retained earnings 12,635,634 10,836,329
Fair value reserve 14 3,472,032 3,771,867
Total shareholders’ equity 21,107,666 19,608,196
Total equity and liabilities 27,387,423 28,277,722

The notes on pages 9 to 50 are an integral part of these financial statements.

On 2 December 2020, the Board of Directors of First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

authorised these financial statements for issue.

s .

Director




First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Income
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Brokerage fee and commission income
Brokerage fee and commission expense

Net brokerage fee and commission income

Dividend income

(Losses)/gains from financial assets
Investment management fees
Other income

Total income
Operating expenses

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit after taxation

Notes

156
16

17

18

19

20

3
2020
$

2,761,274
(1,267,876}

1,483,308

291,458
(19,359)

2,688,726
4,444 223
(1,945,933)

2,498,290
(898,985)

1,799,305

The notes on pages § fo £0 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Year ended
0 September
2019
$

2,568,750
(921,652)

1,647,098

426,321

2,269
160,000
891,075

3,118,763
(1.600,412)

1,516,351
(324,528)

1,191,823




First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Expressed In Trinidad and Tobago Doflars)

Year ended
30 September
Note 2020 2019
$ $

Profit for the year 1,799,305 1,191,823
Change in fair value of other comprehensive income,

net of tax 14 (299.835) 2,268,894
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (299,835) 2,258.894
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,498,470 3,450,717

The notes on pages 9 to 50 are an integral part of these financtal statements.



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Balance at 1 October 2019
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value of Other
Comprshensive Income
Total comprahensive income for the year
Transactions with owners
Ordinary dividends paid
Extracrdinary dividends paid
Total transactions with owners

Balance at 30 September 2020

Balance at 1 October 2018
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value of Other
Comprehensive Income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transactions with owners
Ordinary dividends paid
Extraordinary dividends paid
Total transactions with owners

Balance at 30 September 2019

Total
Share Retained Fair value shareholders’
capital earnings  reserves equity
$ $ $
5,000,000 10,836,329 3,771,867 19,608,196
- 1,799,305 - 1,789,305
- ~ _ {299,835) {299,835)
- 1,799,305 (299.835) 1,499,470
5,000,000 12635634 34720372 21,107,666
5.000.000 24,041,733 1512873 30,554,706
- 1,191,823 - 1,191,823
- - 2258894 2,258,894
- 1,181.823 2.258.894 3,450,717
- (6,897,227) - (6,897,227)
-~ (7,500,000) - (7,600,000)
- (14,397,227} - {14,397.227)
5,000,000 10836329 3771867 19.608,196

The notes on pages 9 to 5C are an integral part of these financial statements,



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Note

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation
Adjustments to reconciie profit to net cash
from operating activities:
Depreciation
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets
Gain on dispoesal of financial assets
Income taxes paid
Cash flows from operating profits before changes in
operating assets and liabilities
Net change in other debtors and prepayments
Net change in payables and other liabilities

Net cash outfiow from operating activities

Cash flows from Investing activities
Sale proceeds of financial assets
Net change in shorf term investments

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Ordinary dividends paid

Exiraordinary dividends paid

Net cash outflow from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Represented by:
Cash at bank 5
Short term investments - maturity within three months 5

Cash and cash equivalents

Year ended
30 September
2020 2019
$ $
2,498 290 1,516,351
88,031 89,335
19,359 (677)
- (1,555)
(381,792) {2,126,144)
2,223,888 (522,690)
(213,237) {1,367,331)
(2,678,464) {4,332,201)
(667,813) (6,222,222)
- 4,740
{93,690} (68,530)
(93,690) (83,790)
-~ (6,897,227)
-~ (7,500,000)
- (14,397,227)
{661,503) {20,683,239)
14,074,951 34,758,190
13,413,448 14,074,951
12,695,753 13,367,852
717,695 707,099
13,413,448 14,074,851

The notes on pages 9 to 60 are an integral part of these financial statements.

()



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dcliars)

1 General information

First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited is incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and
Tobago and its principal business includes dealing in securities on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock
Exchange and such other business as is authorised pursuant to its registration under the Securities
Industry Act 1895 of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago.

Effective 1 October 2011, First Citizens investment Services Limited {FCIS) assumed control of the
Company. The ultimate parent company is First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company with a

64.43% controlling interest and is owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago
(GORTT). The remainder of the shares are listed on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange and are
publicly traded.

The Company's registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair, Port of Spain.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies agplied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently appiied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

a. Basis of preparation

These financial stalements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS. These financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The financial staiements are prepared
under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of freehold premises, fair
value through profit and loss and fair value through other comprehensive income.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also raquires management to exercise its judgment in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

{iy Standards, amendment and interpretalions which are effective and have been adopted by
the Company in the accounting period

» [FRS 16 Leases {effective 1 January 2019). This standard specifies how an IFRS
reporter will recognise, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single
lessee accounting model, requiring lesseess to recognise assets and liabilities for all
leases unless the lease term in 12 months and less or the underlying assets has a low
value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance ( Note 2.1)

» |FRIC 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (Effective 1 January 2019). The
interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments under IAS 12. It specifically considers:

» Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively

» Assurptions for taxation authorities' examinations

» The cetermination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and tax rates

* The effect of changes in facts and circumstances

(9



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are nof yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Company

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are not yet
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and have not been early
adopted by the Company:

[ ]

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of Material (Effective 1 January 2020}, The
amendments in Definition of Material {(Amendments to IAS 1 and 1AS 8) clarify the definition
of ‘material' and align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework and the standards,

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform {Effective 1
January 2020). The amendments in Interest Rafe Benchmark Reform (Amendments to
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) clarify that entities would continue to apply certain hedge
accounting requirements assuming that the interest raie benchmark on which the hedged
cash flows and cash flows from the hedging instrument are based will not be altered as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform.

Amendment to IFRS 3 —Amendments in Definition of a Business (Effective 1 January
2020). The amendments are changes to Appendix A Defined Terms, the application
guidance, and lliustrative examples of IFRS are.-

o clarify that to be considerad a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must
include, at a minimum, an input and substantive process that togsther significantly
contribute to the ability to create ocutputs

o harrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services
provided tc customers and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs;

o add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive
process has been acquired;

o remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any
missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs; and

o add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acguired set of activities and assets is not a business.

Amendments to IFRS 16~ Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Effective 1 June 2020},
The amendment provides lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COVID-19-
related rent concession is a lease medification.

The company does not have any rental leases and therefore does not anticipates any impact of
the new and revised standards not yet effective on the Financial Statements,



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b. Foreign currency translation

(i

(i)

Functional and presentation currenhcy

ltems included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional
currency). The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars, which is
the Company's functienal and presentation currency. The exchange rate between the TT
dollar and the US dollar as at the date of these statements was

TT$6.7124 = US$1.00 (2019; TT$6.6926 = US$4.00), which represent the Company’s mid-
rate,

Transactions and balances

Fareign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlemeant of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the statement of income,

Changes in the fair value of menetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified
as fair value through other comprehensive income are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes
in the carrying amount of security. Translation differences related to changes in the
amortised cost are recoghised in the profit or loss and other changes in carrying amount
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-monetary
items such as equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income
financial assets are included in other comprehensive income.

c. Cash and due from other banks

For purposeas of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash
balances on hand, deposits with other banks and shert-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less when purchased.

d. Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i

Financial assets

The Group classifies iis financial assets in the following business models:

Hold for trading
Hold to collect and sell or
Hold fo coliect

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the foliowing
three measurement categories:

{11)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

30 September 2020
{(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
d.  Financial assels and financial liabilities (continued)
(iy Financial assets {continued)
Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest (SPP1)), and that are not designated at FVPL are
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any
expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 3.a. Interest
income from these financial assets — cash and due from other banks are included In “Interest
income” using the effective interest rate method.

Fair valus through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the
assets, where the assets cash flows represents solely payments of principal and interest, and
that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of Impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and
losses on the instrument’s amertised cost which are recognised in profit or loss, When the
financial asset is detecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised ln OCl |s
reclassified from equity to profit and loss and recognized in “Net Investment Income”.
Financial assets in this category include unlisted equity instruments that are held for
investment.

Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVCCI are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit
or loss and presented in the "income statement within "Gains on investments securities” in
the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were classified at fair
value or which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented in Investment
Interest Income. Financial assets in this category include listed equity instruments that are
held for investment.



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
d. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(It Financial assets {continued)
Group's Business mods!

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash
flows. An assessiment is made at a portfolio level and includes an analysis of facters such as:

+ The stated objective and policies of the portfolic and the operation of those in practice.
More specifically whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash
flows from the assets or it to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising
from the sale of the assets.

» Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected.

+ Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and reported to key
management personnel.

« Managements identification of and response to varicus risks, which includes but not
limited to, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk.

« Management considers, in classifying its assets, the level of historical sales and
forecasted liquidity requirements.

Arising out of the assessment the portfolios were deemed to have the business models
identified as follows:

Hold to Collect & Sell Hold for Trading
Cash Equity Investments
Impairment

The Company assesses on a forward-locking basis the expected credit losses (ECL)
associated with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising
from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, The Company recognises a loss
allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

() An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
passible outcomes;

{iy The time value of money; and

(il Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
condlitions.

(iv) Note 3.a.iii provides mere detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.

(13)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
d.  Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(iy Financial assets (continued)
Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether flows represent solaly
payment of principal and interest (SPPI test). In making this assessment, the Company
considers whether the centractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement
i.e. interest inciudes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic
lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where
the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or voiatility that are inconsistent with a basic
lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value
through prefit or loss.

Equily instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that
evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include
ordinary shares.

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or
loss, except where the Company's management has elected, at initial recognition, to
irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.
The Company's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments
are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used,
fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCIl and are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are
not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognized in
profit or loss as other income when the Company’s right to receive payments is established,

Gain and logses on equity investments classified as FVPL are included in the Income
Statement.

{(14)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2020
(Expre_ssed in Trinidad and Tobagc Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

d. Financial assets and financial liabifities (continued)

{iiy Financial liabifities

(a)

(b)

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified and subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition

Financia! liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with
substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing
financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received and discounted using the original affective interest rate, is at
least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the
original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that
the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion
features attached to the instrument and change in covehants are also taken intc
consideraticn. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted
for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or
loss on the extinguishment.

If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or
fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified liability.

e. Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject tc amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the ameunt by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. Forthe purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

(15)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2020

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

f.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
difference between sale and repurchase price Is treated as interest and accrued over the life of
the repo agreement using the effective interest method. :

Lease {ransacfions
Policies applicable after 1 October 2019

The Company has adopted IFRS 16 effective October 1 2019, replaces IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under 1AS 17 and
IFRIC 4.

For all new contracts entered into on or after October 1 2019, the Company assesses whether a
conifract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as “a contract that conveys the right-of-use an
asset for a pericd of time in exchange for consideration”, To assess whether a contract conveys
the right-of-use of an asset, the Company assesses whether:

« the contract contains an identified assets, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or
implicitly specified by being Identified at the time the asset is made available to the Company

« the Company has the right to obtain substantially ail the economic benefits from use of the
assets through the period of use

» the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset throughout the period of use. The
Company has this right when it has the rights to direct *how and for what purpose” the asset
is used.

(i) The Company as the iessee

Until the 2018 financial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as
gither finance leases or operating leases. From Qctober 1 2019, the Company recoghises
leases as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Company. The right of use is initially measured at the cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, any initial direct cost incurred, an estimate
of any cost to dismantle and remove the asset or to restore the asset and less any lease
incentive received.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Lease transactions (confinued)

Policies applicable after T October 2019 (continued)

(i)

The Company as the lessee (continued)

The Company depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight line basis from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the
end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on
the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. The Company also assess the
right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicaters exists.

The Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments not
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if
that rate cannct be readily determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate, which is
the Repos rate. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
paymeants:-

» fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentive

» variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date

* amount expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees

« the exercise price under a purchase opfion, if the Company is reasonably certain to
exercise that option

+ |ease payments in an optional renewal period, if the Company is reasonable certain to
exercise

¢ penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Company
exercising this option

Payments associated with short-term leases and all low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expenses in the income statement. Short-term leases are leases
with a term of twelve (12) months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small
items of office furniture.

Policies applicable prior to 1 October 2019

Leases are accounted for in accordance with [AS 17 and IFRIC 4. They are divided Into finance
leases and operating leases.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and methods of ownership are retained by
another party, the lessor, are classified as operating leases. Leases of assets where the
Company has substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.

(17)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

g

Lease transactions (continued)

Policies applicable prior to 1 October 2019 {continued)

Leases are accounted for in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. They are divided inte finance
leases and operating leases.

Leases in which a significant peortion of the risks and methods of ownership are retained by
another party, the lessor, are classified as operating leases. Leases of assets where the
Company has substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership are ¢lassified as finance leases,

(i

The Company as the lessee

Should the Company entered Into operating leases where the total payments made under
operating leases are charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the period has
expirad, any penalty payment made to the lessor is recognised as an expense in the period in
which termination takes place.

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, an asset and liability is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at ameunts equal at inception to the fair value of
the lzased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the cutstanding liability so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.

The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the consolidated income statement
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
halance of the liability for each period. The plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

The Company as the lessor
The Company's accounting pelicy under IFRS 16 has not changed.

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is
recognised as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present
value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is
recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method (before tax), which
reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the asset for each
period.

There were no Finance leases operating leases recognised by the company at the Statement
of Financial Position date,

(18)
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

h.

Other deblors and prepayments

Other debtors and prepayments consist of amounts due from brokers, clients, staff advances and
related parties. These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

Froperty, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are statad at historical cost less depreciation.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial pericd in which they are
incurred.

Leasehold improvements and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation and amortisation are computed on all assets except land.

The provislon for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight-line method fo

allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
as follows:

Equipment and furniture 4-5 years
Computer equipment and motor vehicles 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements Amortised over the life of the lease

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewad for impairment whenevear events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
assets fair value less cost {o sell and value in use. Gains and losses on disposal of property,
plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are recognised
within the inceme statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in fair value
reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

(19)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

J.

Intangitle assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations,
computer software licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost.
Tha cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at the date of
acquisition. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised using the straight line
method over the period that the benefits from these assets are expected ta be consumed,
generally not exceeding 20 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not
amortised. At each date of the statement of financial position, intangible assets are reviewed for
indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications
exist, the intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully
recoverable, An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount.

The Company chooses to use the cost medel for the measurement after recognition.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever there
is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

(i) Other Intangible assets

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from
confractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and in the case of
intangible assefs not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future
egonhomic benefits attributes to the assets with flow from their use. The value of intangible
assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined using income
approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow methed,

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for impairment, if
any, plus reversals of impairment, if any. They are amortised over their useful lives in a
manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute fo future cash flow.

(i Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an
expense when incurred. However, expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of
computer software programmss beyond their original specifications and lives is recognised
as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. Computer software
development costs recognised as assets when the following criteria are met;

It is technically feasible to complete the software and use it

Management intends to cemplete the software and use it.

There an ability to use the software,

Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to
use it,

» The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably
measured,

The software development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their
useful lives but not exceeding a period of thrae (3) years.

(20)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

k. Employee benefits

{i)

Pension Plan - First Citizens Group defined benefit pension plan

The FCB Group operates a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines an
amount of pension benefits that an employes will receive on retirement, usually degendent
on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensatiocn. This pension plan
is funded by payments from employeses and by the Company, taking account of the
recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

Typically defined benefit vlans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will
receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of
service and compensation.

The liability recognised in Group's statement of financial position in respect of defined
benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the
reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is
calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated based on cash outflows
allocated to current or prior periods using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that
are denominated in the currency in which the bensfits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. In countries where
there is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used.

Profit sharing and bonus plans

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based
onh a formula that takes inte consideration the Group's profit before taxation. The Company
recoghises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

(i) Employee stock option plan
The Group operates a cash-setiled based remuneration plan for its employees. A liability is
recognised for the fair value of the cash-settled transactions. The fair value is measured
initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date, with changes in
the fair value recognised in the income statement. The fair vaiue is expensed over the
period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is mere [ikely than not that an outflow of rescurces embodying

economic banefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a retiable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of the obligation
as a whele. A provision is recognised even if the likelihoed of an outflow with respect to any one
item included In the same class of obligations may be small.

(21)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Provisions (continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage
of time is recognised as interest expense.

Payables and other ljabilities

Payables and other liabilities represent short term obligations to brekers, clients, business related
gxpenses and related parties. These are short term in nature and settlement is expected within
one year. Payables and other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction
costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs,

income taxes

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
income statemeant, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current iIncome tax charge Is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date in the countries where the Company cperates
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations In which applicable tax regulation is subject to Interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recegnition of goodwill, deferred
fncome tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date
and are expected o apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability Is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is prebable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Defarred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liahilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.

Fee and commission income

IFRS15 core underlying principle is that an entity should recognise revenue in a manner that
depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services to customers. The petformance cbligations
is very contract specific for the various services: wealth managed client accounts, private
placements, portfolic management fees and commissions and mutual funds portfolio
management.

(22)
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0. Fee and commission income (continued)

Fees and commissions are recognised at a point in time when the service has been provided.
Commissicns and fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction
for a third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the
purchase or sale of businesses are recognised at a point in tima on completion of the underlying
transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised based on
the applicable service contracts usually on a time apportioned basis, which is normally on a
monthly billing cycle at & point in time.

Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period the
service is provided and accrued in accordance with pre-approved fee scales. The same principle
is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services that are continuously
provided over an extended period of time. Performance linked fees or fee components are
recoghised when the performance criteria are fulfilied at a point in time.

Brokerage & Advisory fees are generally recognized at a point in time upon full completion of the
scope of works to the contract, however, for Initial Public Offerings and services of that nature the
performance obligation may be specific to the stage of complefion of the services performance
obligation. In addition some centracts may require variation to the performance obligation based
on the client specifications. These contracts would qualify for revenue recognition over time.

L. Investment management fees

From October 2011, management fees related to the provision of portfolio and other management
advisory services are recognised monthly based on a fixed Service Level Agreement between the
Company and its parent which is reviewed annually. This agreement covers the provision of the
advisory services.

a. Interest income and expense

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest bearing
instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method based on the initial carrying
amount. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and deposits.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
recelpts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or the
amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses
and include transaction cost, premium, discounts and fees and point paid cor received that are
integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees,

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of

an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cashflows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
r, Dividend income

Dividends are recognised in the statement of income when the Company's right to receive
payment is established.

8, Dividend distribution

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by
the Board of Directors. Dividends for the year, which are declared after the year- end, are
disclosed In the subsequent events note when applicable.

t. Fiduciary activities

The Company acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that resuit in the holding or
placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions.
These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they
are not assets of the Company.

Change in accounting policies

The Company has adopted IFRS 16 as issued by the IASB in January 2016, with a date of transition of 1
October 2019, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts
previously recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach which:-

» Requires the Gompany to recognise the cumulative effect initially applying IFRS 16 as an adjustment
to the cpening balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application

« Does not permit restatement of comparative, which continue to be presented under IAS 17 and IFIC
43

On adoption of IFRS 186, the Company had no lease liabilities in relations to leases which had
previously been classified as “operating leases”, under IAS 17 Leases, If liabilities existed those
amounts would have been measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee's incrementai borrowing rate/ funding cost as at October 1 2019, as no implicit interest
rate existed in the leases. The present vaiue of the lease liabilities will be determined using the average
cost of borrowing for the Group which is 3%.

There were no leases previously classified as finance leases,
The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Company is as follows:-

On transition to IFRS 16, the Company recognised the following fransactions on the Statement of
financial position:-

Right of use asset NIl
Lease liability NIL
Retained earnings NIL
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Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it fo a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks.
Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of
being in business. The Company's aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and
return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance.

The Company's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to moniter the risks and adherence fe limits by means of
reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Company regularly reviews its risk management
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors of First Citizens Bank Limited (the Group) has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. To assist the Board of
Directors in fulfilling its duties, two Board sub-commiitees were established at the First Citizens Group
level to monitor and report to the Board of Directors on the overall risks within the First Citizens Group -
the Board Enterprise Risk Management Committee and the Board Credit Committee, and one
management level committee - Asset Liability Committee.

The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit, headed by the Group Chief Risk Officer, reports to both
sub-committees of the Board. They are responsible for the management, measurement, monitoring
and control of operational, market and credit risk for the Group through the Group Operational Risk &
Controls Unit, Group Credit Risk Management Unit, Group Market Risk Unit and Group Business
Continuity Planning Unit. The Group Enterprise Risk Management Unit reports into the Senior
Management Enterprise Risk Committee to allow monitcring of the adherence to risk limits and the
impact of developments in the aforementioned risk areas on strategy and how strategy should be varied
in light of the developments.

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) was established to manage and monitor the policies and
procedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange rates
and other factars that can affect the Group's liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to acceptable levels
by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and liabilities across the
Bank and the Group's various companies via the Group's Treasury and International Trade Centre. The
Group Treasury and International Trade Cenire’s primary role and responsibility is to actively manage
the Group’s liquidity and market risks. The ALCO Is also supported in some specific areas of activity by
the Bank’s Market Risk Cemmittee,

As part of its mandate, the Board establishes written principles for overall risk management, as well as
ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial insiruments and non-derivative financial
instruments. In addition, the Group internai Audit Department is responsible for the independent
review of risk management and the control environment, and reports its findings and recommendation
to the Board Audit Committee.

The Board of Directors of the FCIS Group has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight
of the FCIS Group's risk management framework. The Board of FCIS has also established a Risk
Management Committee (RMC) which oversees the risk management function of the FCIS Group.

The most important types of risk are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and other operational risk.
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.
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3 Financial risk management {continued)

a.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to
discharge an obligation. The Company generally does not provide advances to customers nor
does it invest in debt securities. As a result, its exposure to credit risk is limited to other registered
brokers and client accounts that are substantively supported by underlying securities. At 30
September 2020, the Company had no financial assets which were either impaired or past due.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

Credit risk exposure relating to on-statement of financial position assets are as follows:

Gross Gross
maximum maximum
exposure exposure

2020 2019
$ $
Cash and due from other banks 19,008,239 19,574,052
Other debtors 531,957 404 498

19,638,196 19,978,550

There were no credit risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position items.

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Company as at
30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019, without taking account of any collateral held or
other credit enhancements attached. The exposures set cut above are based on gross carrying
amounts befcre impairment. There are no credit risk exposures relating to off-statement of
financtal position items.

As shown above, the total maximum exposure derived from cash and due frem other banks and
receivables is 100% (September 2019: 100%); while 0% represents investments (September
2019 0%).

(i Credit risk management

In its management of credit risks, the Group has established an crganisational structure
which supports the lending philosophy of the Group. This structure comprises the Board of
Directors, the Board Credit Commitiee (BCC), Senior Management Enterprise Risk
Committee (SMERC), the Group Chief Risk Officer (GCRO), the Group Credit Risk
Management Unit and the Internal Audit Department. The Board of Directors maintains
general oversight to ensure that policies and procedures are consistent with the strategic
direction and credit philosophy of the Group and that they serve to bring the required level
of protection over assets that are exposed to credit risks. To facilitate day to day decision
making and timely implementation of decisions, the Board has delegated authority for
spegcific areas to specific committees and/or officers with an appropriate reporting system
to the Board.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Credit risk management {(continued)

The BCC focuses primarily oh credit risk appetite and in so doing sanctions amendments
to credit poficies, delegation of lending authority to senior management and credit requests
exceeding the authority of management. The SMERC together with the GCRO monitors
tha effectiveness of credit policies and procedures and may direct changes to strategies to
improve the effectiveness of policies. The major focus of the Group Credit Risk
Management Unit is to formulate credit policies, monitor compliance with them and on a
continuous basis to assess their relevance to the changing business environment. Most of
these policies are established and cammunicated through the Group’s written Credit Policy
Manual. This document sets out in detail the current policies governing the lending
function and provides a comprehensive framework for prudent risk management of the
credit function.

{a} Other assels

The Company exposure to credit risk is the cutstanding amounts due from clients and
brokerage companies which are settled within three working days following month end.

Expected credit loss measurement
IFRS9 outlines a ‘three stage' mode; for impairment based on changes in credit quality

since initial recognition as summarisad bejow:

« Aflnancial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in
Stage 1 and has its credit risk confinucusly monitored by the Group.

» |fa significant increase in credit risk (‘'SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the
financial instrument is moved to 'Stage 2' but Is hot yet deemed to be credit-impaired.

s If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to
‘Stage 3'.

¢ Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the
value of the collectable amount within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3
have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

e A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward- looking information.

+« Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that
are credit- Impaired on initiai recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime
basis (Stage 3).
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3 Financial risk management {continued)

a. Credit risk {continued)

(ii)

(i)

Expected credit loss measurement (continuved)

The following diagram summarises the impalrment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

¥ b
a Lag

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
{inltiai Recognition) (Significant increase in
credit risk) {Credit - impaired assets)
12 month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit Lifetime expected credit
losses losses

Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The FCB Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the
definition of credit- impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitative criteria
The horrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.
Qualitative criteria

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indigates the borrower is in
significant financial difficulty. These are instances where;

s The borrower farmally files for bankruptcy or there is a commencement of foreclosure
proceedings.

« The obligation is classified Doubtfui or worse as per the Group's classification process.

e A modification to the terms and conditions of the original agreement that would not
normally be considered is executed

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Group and are
consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes,
The defsult definition has been applied consistently to model the Prokability of Default
(PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout the Group's
expected loss calculations.
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a. Credit risk {continued)

(vi)

Risk limit control and mitigation policy

The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of
risk accepted in relation to one borrower, groups of borrowers, industry and country
segmenis. The Group moniters its concentration of credit exposure so that no single
borrower or industry default will have a material impact on the Group. These limits are
implemented and menitored by the Group Credit Risk Management Unit via the stipulations
of the Group Credit Policy Manual. In instances where it is strategically beneficial and
adequately documented, the Group would seek approval on an exception hasis for variation
to its standard approved limits from the Board of Directors.

(a)

Industry exposure limifs

These limits have been established hased on a ranking of the riskiness of various
industries, The ranking is guided by a meodel developed for the Company for this
purpose, The model utilises a scale incorporating scaores of 1 to & with 1 being the least
risky. Exposure limits as a percentage of the total credit portfolio have been established
for the various country exposure categories based on the risk ranking.

Counlry exposure limits

Exposure limits have beer established for selected countries which are considered fo
be within the Company's target market. Three risk categories have been developed
and the selected countries have been assigned to these categories based either on
ratings issued by acceptable rating agencies or the Company’s own internal
assessment of the economic and political stability of the target. Maximum cross border
exposure has been limited to a pre-determined pertion of total assets and this amount
is allocated to the various risk categories with a larger share being allocated to the
more highly rated categories.

Collateral

The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate cradit risk. The most
common of these is accepting collateral for funds advanced. The Group has internal
nolicies on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not changed significantly

during the period and there has been no significant change in the overall quality of the
collateral held by the Group since the prior period.
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3 Financial risk management {continued)

a, Cradit risk {continued)

(v)

{vi)

Write-off policy

The Company writes off financial assets, in whoie or in part, when it has exhausted all
practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery, Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing
enforcement activity and (ii) where the group’s effort to dispose of repossess collateral is
such that there is no reascnable expectation of recovering in full.

The Company may write-off financiai assets that are still subject to enforcement activity.
The outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 3¢
September 2020 was Nil (2018: $55,999.32). The Company still seeks to recover amounts
it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable
expectation of full recovery,

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure — Geographical sectors

The following table breaks down the Company’s main credit exposure at their carrying
amounts, as categorised by geographical regicn as of 30 September 2020, For this table,
the Company has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its
counterparties. The Company's investment portfolio comprising cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets — Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income, Fair value through
Profit and Loss and Other Assets and Receivables domiciled within the Caribbean. Limits
for each country are reviewed on an annual or more frequent basis and the exposures are
monitored on a daily basis. The country exposuras are categorised into one regional sector
and the sector concentration within the portfolio is as follows:

Caribbean Total
$'000 $°000
At 30 September 2020
Cash and due from other banks 19,006,239 18,006,239
Other assets and receivables _ 531,957 531,957
As at 30 September 2020 19,538,196 19,538,198
Caribbean Total
$'000 $'000
At 30 September 2019
Cash and due from other banks 19,674,052 19,574,052
Other assets and receivables 404,458 404,498
As at 30 September 2019 19,978,550 19,878,550
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3 Financial risk management {(continued)

b.

Market risk

The Company takes cnh exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because cf changes in market prices. Market
risks arise from open positions in eguity products which are exposed tc general and specific
market mevements and changes in the level of volatility of equity prices. The Company separates
exposures to market risk into either frading or non-trading portfolios.

The market risks arising from trading and non-trading activities are measured separately by the
Group Market Risk Unit who submit reports to the Senior Management Enterprise Risk
Committee on a regular basis and also reports via the Enterprise Risk Unit to the Board
Enterprise Risk Committee to enable Board oversight of market risk issues,

Additionally, an a monthly basis, the Group's Pricing Committee reviews and approves the yield
curves used to value all investment securities and reports on this into the Group ALCO. This
Committee also provides for the consideraticn of the Group ALCO technical information that may
be relevant to current and developing market conditions from time to time.

Trading portfolics include those pertfelios arising from market-making transactions where the
Group acts as a principal with clients or with the market. Trading portfolios are those positions
entered into primarily to take advantage of market movements to generate capital gains.
Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the inierest-rate management of the Group's retail and
commercial banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also consist of interest rate,
foreign exchange and equity risks arising from the Company's financial assets held at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

As part of the management of market risk, the Company uses overall exposure in relation to
capital as the basis for controlling market risk.

As at 30 September 2020, the total value of assets to which the Company faced market risk
represented 39.8% (September 2019: 39.8%).

(i Currency risk sensitivity
The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevaiting fereign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. As at 30 September

2020, the Company had 33% cash and due from other banks (September 2019: 19%) and
35% ilabilities (September 2019: 0.45%) denominated in a foreign currency.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b. Market risk (continued)

(i

(ii)

Currency risk sensitivity (continued)

Based on net foreign currency positions at 30 September 2020 the effect of a 2.5%
depreciation in the Trinidad and Tobago dollar against the respective currencies is as follows:

YUsD JVMD BBD
$ $ $
At 30 September 2020
Loss (112,968) (2,632) (50)
At 30 September 2019
Loss (92,429) {3,104) {75)

The effect of a 2.5% depreciation in the Trinidad and Tebago doliar against the US dollar wouid
reduce Net income after tax by 6% (2019: 8%),

The sensitivity analysis for currency rata risk in the following table illustrates how changes in
the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign currency exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. For the sensitivity
analysie, a 5% movement in USD to TTD exchange rates was used for 30 September 2020
and 30 September 2019.

Effects on shareholders’ equity

Year ended Year ended
30 September 2020 30 September 2019
+ 5% - 5% + 5% -5%
$ $ $ $
Effects on sharehclders’ equity 231,584 (231,584) 189,479 (189,479)

Foreigh exchange risk

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. It is the policy of the
Company not to engage in speculative foreign exchange activities, The Board sets limits on
the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are monitored
periodically. The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate
currency risk. The Campany's strategy of managing this risk is to buy low and sell high;
establish relationships with corporate fereign exchange earners; limit foreign exchange
exposure; avoid speculation with an aim to keep a balanced position; and match foreign
currency denominated assets with foreign currency deneminated liabilities. The Company
dees not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate currency risk. The table below
summarises the Company's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at September.
tncluded in the table are the Company’s financial instruments at carrying amounts,
categorised by currency.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b. Market risk (cbntinued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

At September 30 2020 TT us JMD BBD Total
$ $ $ $ $
Assets
Cash and due from other banks 12,746,845 6,151,462 107,032 -- 19,008,239
Financial assets
- Fair value through other
comprehensive income 5,174,465 -- - - 5,174,465

- Fair value through profit or loss 210 126,818 - -- 127,028
Other assets & receivahles 530,020 1,937 -~ -~ 531,957
Total 18,451,540 6,280,217 107,932 -- 24,839,689
Liabitlities
Other liabilities and accrued

BXpenses 2,993,591 1,648,639 -~ (2,070) 4,640,080
Total liabilities 2,603,691 1,648,639 “- (2,070} 4,640,060
Net on-bhalance sheet

financial position 15,467,949 4631678 107,932 2,070 20,189,629
At September 30 2019 TT us JMD BBD Total

$ $ $ $ $
Assets
Cash and due from other banks 15,768,027 3,678,746 127,279 - 19,574,062
Financial assets
- Fair value through other
comprehensive income 5,602,800 - -- - 5,602,800

- Fair value through profit or loss 265 146,121 - - 146,386
Other assets & recelvables 403,829 669 -- - 404,498
Total 21,774,921 3,825,536 127,279 -~ 25727736
Liabilities
Other liabilities and accrued

expenses 7,201,250 35,950 -= (3,067) 7,234 133
Total liabilities 7,201,250 35,850 -- (3,067) 7,234,133
Net on-balance sheet

financial position 14,673,671 3,789,686 127,279 3,067 18,493,603
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3 Financial risk management {(continued)

b, Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk management focuses cn potential changes in net interest income resulting
from changes in interest rates, product spreads and mismatches in the re-pricing between
interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company takes on exposure
to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair
value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but
may also reduce resulting in losses in the event that unexpected movemenis arise. The
Company's objective in the management of it interest rate risk is to reduce the sensitivity
of its earnings and overall pertfolio value to fluctuations in the interest rate. The strategy
employed to achieva this involves the active pricing of diversifying portfolios in accordance
with market trends and reducing funding mismatch through long-term instruments, The
table below summarises the Company's exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the
Company’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of
contractual repricing or maturity dates,

Non-
Upto1 1-3 3-12 1-8 Qver 5 interest
Interest rate maturities month months months years years Bearing Total
At 30 September 2020 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Assets
Cash and due from
other banks 12,695,763 - 6,310,488 - - -~ 19,006,239
Total 12,695,753 - 6,310,486 - - - 19,006,239
Non-
Upto1 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5  interest
Interest rate maturities  month months months  years years Bearing Total
At 30 September 2019 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Assets
Cash and due from .
other banks 13,367,852 - 6,206200 -- - -~ 19,574,052
Total 13,367,862 -~ 8,206,200 - - -~ 19,674,052

If interest rates were to move by 1% the impact on net interest income will be $974 (2019: $852)
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

C,

Price risk

Price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from
interest rate risk or currency risk}, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments
traded in the market. The Company is affected by changing prices of equity instruments mainly
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income securities with fair vaiue movements
recognised in shareholders' equity. Management has determined that the impact of the price risk
on equity instruments classified as fair value through other comprehensive income is immaterial
at the end of both periods reported.

The sensitivity analysis for price risk below illustrates how changes in the fair value of the future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes to prices at the end of the
reporting period. Other than assets categorised as investment securities which are carried at fair
value, the carrying value of all other financia! assets and liabilities as presented on the statement
of financial position is not significantly different from their fair value.

For the sensitivity analysis, a 10% maovement in prices was used for 30 September 2020 and 30
September 2019: (10%).

Effects on profit before tax

Year ended Year ended
30 September 2020 30 September 2019
+10% -10% +10% -10%
$ $ $ $

Financial assets;
- Fair value through other 517,447 (517,447} 560,280 (660,280)
Comprehensive income;
- Fair value through profit or loss 12,703 (12,703) 14,639 {14,639)
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

g,

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable tc generate or obtain sufficient cash or
its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fail due
under normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows. The undiscounted
receivables and payables liquidity exposure is mitigated because these cash flows are generally
settled within three to thirty days.

Liquidity risk management process

The Group’s liquidity management process is carried out by the Treasury and International Trade
Centre and monitored by the Group’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCQ). The Group's liquidity
management framework is designed to ensure that there are adequate reserves of cash and other
liguid securities to satisfy current and prospective commitments arising from either on-statement of
financial position or off-statement of financial position liabilities. The Group relies on a broad range of
funding sources and applies prudent limits to avoid undue concentration. Current and projected
cash flows are monitored, together with diversification of funding and contingency planning, and
ensuring that funding disturbances are minimised.

Compliance with liquidity policies and risk limits is tracked by Group Market Risk Unit and reported
into the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee via the Group Enterprise Risk Unit to the
Board Enterprise Risk Committes,

The Company's financial liabilities are all payable within 1 month as at the statement of financial
position date,

Off-statement of financial posifion items

(i) Financlal guarantees and other financial facilifies

As of 30 September 2020, the Company had no financial guarantees or other financial
facilities that result in a commitment to meet financial obligations (2019: nil).

Operational risk

Operating risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud and
external events, The Company's objective is to manage operational rigk so as to balance the
avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Company’s reputation with overall cost
effectiveness and innovation. The Company manages this risk by developing standards and
guidelines in the following areas:

« Appropriate segregation of duties and access.

s Reconciling and menitaring of transactions.

+ Documentation of controls and procedures.

» Training and development of staff.

» Reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial actions.
« Development of contingency plans.

¢ Information security.

* Assessments of the processes.

¢ Business continuity planning
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3 Financial risk management {continued)
9. Fairvalue of financial assets and liabilities
(iy Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets
presented on the statement of financial position at an amount other than their fair value.

Carrying value Fair value
2020 2019 2020 2019
$ $ $ $
Financial assels
Cash and due from
other banks 19,008,239 19,574,052 19,006,239 19,574,052
Other debtors'’ 531,957 404,498 531,957 404,498
19,538,196 19,978,550 19,538,196 19,878,550

Financial liabilifies
Other liabilities 4,640,060 7,234,133 4,640,060 7,234,133

The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are determined in accordance with
International Accounting Standard (IFRS) 9 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Financial instruments where carrying value is equal to fair value

Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial
instruments approximate their fair values.

Financial instruments where carrying value is approximately equal to fair value include cash
and due from other banks and other debtors.

Cash and due from other banks

This amount represents short term deposits and other bank balances. The fair value of these
short term deposits is approximately equal to their carrying amount,

(37)



First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

g. Fair value of financial assets and lfabilifies (continued)

(i)

Financial instruments nof measured at fair vaiue (continued)
Receivables

Receivables are net of provisions for impairment, The estimated fair value of receivables
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value, As at
the date of these financial statements the ECL for the receivables is nil.

Bonds held at amortised cost

Fair value for Amortised Cost assets is based on market prices or broker/dealer price
guotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using a
discounted cash flow valuation methodology where all cash-flows of the instruments are
discounted at an appropriate yield plus a credit spread where applicable. The fair value of
the held-to-maturity portfolio is computad for disclosure purposes only. There are no
cbservable prices for these instruments and as such they are considered level 3
instrurnents. There were no investments held at amortised cost to Sept 2020 (Sept 2019:
nil).

Bank overdraft

The fair values of bank overdraft is equal tc its carrying value as such instruments are
subject to floating rates of interest which reset on a daily, monthly or quarterly basis.

Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to these
valuation technigues are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market
data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Company's
market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value
hierarchy:

o Level 1- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

¢ Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices includad within level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectiy {that is, derived from
prices}). This level includes debt instruments.

s Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(that is, unobservable inputs). This leve! includes equity investments and debt
instruments with significant unobservable components,
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
9.  Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(i Falr value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
value at:

As at 30 September 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ $ $ $
- Fair value through other
comprehensive income - -~ 5,174,465 5,174,465
- Fair value through profit and loss 127,028 - - 127,028
Total 127,028 —~ 5174485 5,301,493

As at 30 September 2019

Level1 Level2 Level 3 Total
$ $ $ $
- Fair value through other
comprehensive income - - 5,602,800 5,602,800
- Fair value through profit and loss 146,386 - - 146,386
Total 148,386 - 5,602,800 5,749,186

h. Capitai management

The Company's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’
on the face of the statement of financial position are;

s To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets where
the Company operates;

« To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

¢ Tomaintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Company’s
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago
Securities and Exchange Commission (the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required
information is filed with the Authority on a regular basis as required.

The Authority requires each securities company te held the minimum level of regulatory capital of
five million Trinidad and Tobago dollars. The Company complied with all of the externally
imposed capital requirements to which they are subject for the period ending September 30, 2020
and September 30, 2019,
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions abcut the future, The resulting accounting estimates

will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are outlined below:

a.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category comprises two sub-categories; financial assets held for trading and financial assets
desighated by the Group as fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a pertfolio of identified
financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading.

For financial instruments traded in an active market, the determination of fair values of financial
assets and liabllities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price guotations.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory
agency, and these prices represent actual and regular occurring market transactions on an arm's
length basis. If the above criteria are not mef, the market is regarded as being inactive. Indicators
that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the
bid-offer spread or there are few recent transactions. When a market becomes inactive, the
valuation technigue utilised makes use of the quoted price even though the market is not active.

Falr value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI):

The Group uses the discounted cash flow method to determine the fair value of Financial Assets
through other comprehensive income not traded in active markets. The discounted cash flow
method discounts the cash-flows of the financial assets af an appropriate yield plus a credit
spread where applicable.

The Company's financial assets at Fair value through other comprehensive income represents
equity shares held for Investments, The share price is determined using the Dividend Discount
Model {DDM), which vaiues a share's price based on its predicted future dividend payments and
discounting them back to present value. The cost of equity is determined using the cost of equity
for the US market and adjusting it by a country risk premium. The expected growth rate is
calculated using a ten year trend of return of equity by the payout ratio for the dividends received.
If the cost of equity was to move by 1%, the price of the shares will fall to $45.58 resulting in an
85 cent price reduction.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

C,

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit ioss allowance for debt securities measured at amortised
cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions
about future economic conditions and credit behaviour {e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting
and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in
measuring ECL. is further detailed in note 3.a.v, which also sets aut key sensitivities of the ECL to
changes in these elements.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for
measuring ECL., such as:

« Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

» Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL,;

e Establishing the number and reiative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of
product/market and the associated ECL; and

« Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Income taxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes and there are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final
tax oytcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences witl impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made. When appropriate, particularly where the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain, management also cbtains opinions or advice from leading tax advisors
and regularly reassesses its strategy in relation to such exposures.

The Company is subject to income tax in variance jurisdictions. Tax is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Substantive enactment is
considered to be achieved when further steps in the enactment process will not change the
outcome of a proposed change In tax law. Management considers the legislative process applicable
in each jurisdiction in which it operates in determining at what point a proposed change in tax law
will be considered substantively enacted by identifying the point after which further steps in the
enactment process will not affect the outcome of the proposed change. The Corporation tax rate
for Trinidad and Tobago was 30% in 2020 (2019:30%).

Fees and commissions

The standard outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting for revenue arising from
contracis with customers. IFRS 15 does not distinguish between revenue from sales of goods and
services or construction contracts. Instead, it defines transactions based on performance
obligations satisfied over time or at a point in time. The core underlying principle is that an entity
should recognise revenue in a manner that depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services to
customers. The amount recognised should reflect the amount to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services.
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)

e. Fees and commissions (continued)

Revenue Allocate the Recognise revenue Timing of Impact from
type transaction price to | when (or as} each revenue adopting
separate performance obligation | recognition | IFRS15
performance is satisfied
obligations
Capital - Revenue are There are not multiple Completion Nil
markets recognized at a point | performance obligations | of full service
in time upon full at a point in
completion of the time
scope of works to the
contract
Weaalth Revenue are There is not separation of | Completion Nil
Management | racognized over time | performance obligation of full service
upon full completion over time
of the scope of works
to the contract
Brokerage & | For general The separation of the ForIPO fees | Asat 30
Advisory Brokerage and performance obligation it would be September
Advisory revenues would be specific to the based on 2020 the
are recognized at a engagement and separation impact on the
point in time upeon full | agreement with the client | based on adopting of
completion of the performance | IFRS15 would
scope of works to the obligation as | be Nil
contract, however, for be the because thers
Initial Public offerings contact, this | were no
the performance would be contract in of
obligation maybe over time that nature at
specific to stage of the balance
completion of the sheet date.
services deliverad
Othar Revenue are There is not separation of | Completion Nil
recognized at a point | performance obligation of full service
in time upon full at a point in
completion of the time
scope of works to the
contract




First Citizens Brokerage and Advisory Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2020
(Expressed in_Trim'dad and Tebago Dolfars)

5 Cash and due from Other Banks

2020 2019
$ $
Cash at bank 12,695,753 13,367,852
Short term investments 6,310,486 6,206,200
19,008,239 19,574,052
2020 2019
$ $
Short-term investments:
- Maturity within 3 months 717,695 707,099
- Maturity over 3 months 5,692 791 5,489101
6,310,486 6,206,200

The average effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 1.49% in September 2020 (2019: 1.18%);
these deposits have an average maturity of 90 days (2019; 90 days). The average effective inferest rate
on investments with a maturity of over 3 months (365 days} is 1.57% (2019: 1.57%).

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flow:

Cash and bank balances 12,695,753 13,367,862
Short-term investments — maturity within three months 717,895 707,009
Cash and cash equivalents 13,413,448 14,074,951
Financial assets through other comprehensive income
- Listed - -
- Unlisted 5,174,465 5,602,800
5,174,465 5,602,800

The movement in financial assets valued at fair value through other comprehensive income may be

summarised as follows:

At beginning of year 5,602,800 2,375,808
(Lossaes)/gains from changes in fair value (428,335) 3,226,992
Fair vajue through profit and loss - --
At end of year 5,174,485 5,602,800
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7 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2020 2019
$ $
Equity securities
- Listed 127,028 146,386

The movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss may be summarised as follows:

At beginning of year 146,386 148,893
Pisposals - {4,740)
(Losses)/gains from changes in fair value (Note 16) (19,358) 2,268
Assets written off - (36)

Reclassification of other comprghensive income to
fair value through profit and loss - -

At end of year 127,028 146,386

The above securities are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy, and information about the groups of financial instruments
is reported to management on that basis.

8 Other debtors and prepayments

2020 2019
$ $
Due from brokers 517,787 309,288
Due from clients 7 80,688
Other debtors 14,163 14,522
Frepayments 109,265 39,097
641,222 443 595

As at the date of these financial statements, the ECL on these receivables is nil.

8 Intangible assets

The Company purchased 10 Class “A" shares in the TTSE in 2001. This purchase gave the Company
the right to conduct brokerage operations on the TTSE. In 2012, these shares were converted to
110,400 ordinary shares due to a restructuring at the TTSE. The cost of the right obtained is presented
as an intangible asset. Although there is no active market for the right, the intangibie asset is reviewed
annually for impairment. Intangible asset to 30 Sept 2020 $848,571 (Sept 2019: $848,571).
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30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

10  Property, plant and equipment

Office
equipment,
Computer furniture &
equipment  motor vehicles Total
L $ $
Year ended 30 September 2020
Opening net book value 7,167 220,012 227,179
Additions - - -
Disposals - - -~
Depreciation con disposals - -- -
Depreciation charge (5,627) (82,504) {88,031)
Closing net hook value 1,640 137,608 139,148
At 30 September 2020
Cost 33,248 330,019 363,267
Accumulated depreciation {31,608) (192,511 {224,119)
Net book value 1,640 137,608 130,148
Year ended 30 September 2019
Opening net book value 13,997 302,517 316,514
Additions - - , -
Disposals - -- -
Depreciation on disposals - - --
Depreciation charge {6,830) {82,508) {89,335)
Closing net book value 7,167 220,012 227179
At 30 September 2019
Cost 33,248 330,019 363,267
Accumulated depreciation (26,080 {110,007) {136,088)
Net book value 7,167 220,012 227,179
At 30 September 2018
Cost 33,248 330,019 363,267
Accumulated depreciation {19,251) (27,602) {46,753)
Net hook value 13,997 302,817 316,514
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30 September 2020

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Doflars)

11

12

Payables and other liabllities

Due to brokers
Due to clients
Due to related parties

2020 2019
$ $
295,439 344,446
3,804,447 5,280,286
451,083 1,608,401
4,641,869 7,234,133

Included in due to clients at 30 September 2020, is equity seitlement $2.9m (Sept 2019 $4.2m). These
balances will be cleared within 3 days after the financiai period end,

Deferred income tax assets

Deferred tax is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax

rate of 30%,

The movement on the deferred tax account is as foilows:

At beginning of year

Statement of income charge (Note 19)

Fair value reserve (Note 14)

Al end of year

Deferred tax assels

Financial assets at fair vaiue
through the profit or ioss
Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

Deferred fax liabilities

Prior period change in Tax

Financial assets at fair value
through the profit or loss

Deferred income tax liability

Net deferred income tax liability

2020 2019
$ $
1,435,393 457,390
8,980 9,905
(128,501) 968,098
1,315,872 1,435,393
Closing
Opening balance Charged to balance
1 October Fair value statement of 30 September
2019 reserve income 2020
$ $ $ $
(160,580) -- (8,775) (169,335)
(83,551) - 17,758 (65,796)
(244 111) - 8,980 (235,131)
147,485 - - 147,485
1,632,019 (128,501) - 1,403,518
1,679,504 (128,501) - 1,651,003
1,435,393 (128,501) 8,980 1,315,872
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30 September 2020
{Exprossed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

12 Deferred income tax assets {continued)

Opening Closing
halance Charged to balance
1 October Fair value statement of 30 September
2018 reserve income 2019

Deferred tax assets $ $ $ $
Financial assets at fair value

through the profit or loss (160,357) - (203) {160,560)
Accelerated tax depreciation {93,659) - 10,108 (83,551)
Net deferred income tax asset (254,016) - 9,905 (244,111)
Deferred tax liabilities
Prior period change in tax 147,485 - = 147,485
Financial assets at fair vaiue

through the profit or loss 563,921 968,098 - 1,632,019
Deferred income tax liability 711,408 958,098 -- 1,679,504
Net deferred income tax liability 457,390 963,008 8,905 1,435,393

13  Share capital 2020 2019
$ $

Authorised

An unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value
Issued and fully paid

5,000,000 ordinary shares of no par 5,000,000 5,000,000

14 Fair value reserve

Fair value through other comprehensive income 3,472,032 3,771,867

Fair value through other comprehensive income

At beginning of year 3,771,887 1,612,973

Net (losses)/gains from changes in fair value (428,338) 3,228,992

Deferred tax credit/{charge) (Note 12) 128,501 (968,098)

At end of year 3,472,032 3,771,857
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156

16

17

18

Brokerage fee and commission income

2020 2019
$ $
Equity commissions TTD - : 2,575,425 2,568,750
Equity commissions USD {TTD Equivalent) 175,849 -
2,751,274 2,568,750
Brokerage fee and commission expense
2020 2019
$ $
Commission sharing expenses 1,167,826 818,858
Commission rebate 55,025 51377
Compensation fund contribution 55,025 51,377
1,267,876 921,652

The business entered into a new commission sharing agresment with internal stakeholders in 2019,
which has resulted in an increase in commission sharing expenses in 2020: $1,122,182.54 (2019:

$674,383.44).

Gains/(losses) from financial assets

(Loss)/gain from changes in fair value (19,359) 877
Gain on sale of financial assets -~ 1,692
{19,359) 2,269

Other income
Interest income 87,432 85,174
Other fees and commissions 1,668,102 54,089
Capital market fee income 903,164 751,945
Net foreign exchange loss (9,972) {133)
2,688,726 891,075

Included within other inceme are application, processing and sub-distribution fees earned for services
provided relating to capital market and structuring transactions, All other income for the year was

received at a point in time.
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19  Operating expenses

Staff costs

Other expenses

Depreciation

Computer operating expenses
Audit fees

Legal and professional fees
Travel and entertainment
Directors emoluments

Capital market expenses

2020 2019
$ $

803,950 942,457
450,308 228,355
88,031 89,335
77,191 71,026
153,563 147,656
74,380 81,907
62,994 66,815
134,415 134,415
1,103 (161,554)
1,045,933 1,600,412

Capital market expenses for 2019 reflects a net recovered amount for over acerued fees from 2018 for

IPO fees.

Staff costs

Wages and salaries
National insurance
Bonus and commissions
Health plan expense
Pension plan expense
Staff training

The number of permaneantly employed staff as at the year-end was 2 (2019: 2).

20  Taxation

Deferred tax (Note 12)
Corporation tax
Prior year under/(over) provision

694,387 716,274
28,725 30,703
90,770 110,859
7,330 6,686
82,363 73,953
375 3,082
903,950 942 457
8,980 9,905
690,005 342,346
- (27,723)

698,985 324,528

The tax on the Company's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using

the basic rate of tax as follows:

Prcfit before tax

Tax calculated at 30%

Prior year undet/(over) provision

Income exempt from tax

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Net effect of other charges and allowances

2,498,200 1,516,351
749,487 454,905
(27,723)
(91,775) (142,357)
32,293 29,595
8,980 10,108
698,985 324,528
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21

22

23

24

Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the abllity to control the other party or exercise
significant Influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The parent of the
Company as at 30 September 2020 was First Citizens Investment Services Limited. First Citizens
Investment Services Limited is incorporated in Trinidad and Tobago with its ultimate parent company being
First Citizens Holdings Limlted, a company owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and
Tobago (GORTT). A number of transactions are entered into with reiated parties in the normal course of
business. These generally relate to purchase and sale of shares on behalf of related parties.

Related
Directors companies
30 30 30 30
September September September September
2020 2019 2020 2019
$ $ $ $
Statement of income
Fees and commission income - - 85,859 74,839
Salaries and other short-term
employee henefits {134,415) (134,415) -- -
(134,415) (134,415) 85,859 74,939
Statement of financial position
amounts due (to)/from
Cash and due from other banks - - 18,180,507 18,739,570
Payables and other liabilities - - (451,983) (1,609,402)
- - 17,728,524 17,130,168

Commitments

The Company has no capital or credit commitments as at 30 September 2020 {2019: nil}.

Contingent liabilities

The Company is not involved in any claims and counterclaims arising from the conduct of its business.

Subsequent avents
There were no events after the financial position date which were materia! to the financial statements and

should have resulted in adiustment to the financial statement or disclosures when the financial statements
were authorised for issue.
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